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Message of the Director

Welcome to the Measurement Units, Standards and Services Department’s Annual Report for the 
year 2023.  The year 2023 was a new year that arrived with the end of a pile of internal issues, while it 
was a period expected with a progress and transitional change of many objectives of the Department. 
Innovations had to be continued following the government expenditure management guidelines 
related to recover from the economic crisis while strengthening all activities related to Metrology. 
We streamlined our procedures and operations, while that dedication contributed to strong physical 
and financial progress. Our vision is “to implement a well-protected customer community through 
an accurate and reliable measurements.” We are, at present, an institution with annual earnings of 
approximately LKR 400M and a trans disciplinary and efficient staff comprised of nearly 370.   

As in any other country, metrology system in Sri Lanka has three levels such as scientific metrology, 
industrial metrology and legal metrology. Measurement Units, Standards and Services Department 
(MUSSD) is Sri Lanka’s National Metrology Institute and brings together these three levels of 
metrology under a single organization. MUSSD plays the role of the Central Metrology Authority 
and is empowered for scientific metrology and legal metrology as well as the co-ordination of 
industrial metrology.  Establishment, maintenance, and dissemination of national measurement 
standards towards sectors such as industrial, health and environmental protection in Sri Lanka are 
executed by the National Measurement Laboratory (NML) established under MUSSD.

The new building complex including the National Measurement Laboratory and the administration 
buildings of this Department which was established in the proposed techno city at Pitipana, Homagama 
in December, 2015 to execute the Act bearing No.35 of 1995, maintains and establishes the national 
measurement standards as per the international standards, acting  as the supreme Metrology Authority 
of Sri Lanka while, ensuring the justice and equity for producers, dealers, measurements and other 
service providers through regulation and service activities based on measurements in order to uplift 
the living conditions and the standard of Sri Lankans.

Having investigated on the national strategic plans presented with the intention of achieving national 
objectives by the government of Sri Lanka, we have identified that Metrology plays an enormous 
role for the strategy called “people centric economy” as per the sustainable development goals of 
United Nations on poverty. Accordingly, we paid a special attention to revive the trade sector of the 
economy even amidst the climax of the past economic crisis, accordingly the reliability of internal 
trade of Sri Lanka has been ensured in 2023. Performance targets have been planned during 2024 to 
conduct a variety of missions to uplift the national economy based on experiences and achievements 
obtained in 2023.

I am very proud of these accomplishments while, those will be reflected in this year’s Annual Report 
as well. 

S.N.Akuranthilaka  
Director of Measurement Units, Standards and Services
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1
 Summary of Implementing Institutional 

Profile 
The aim of this report is to present the basic policy, projects and programs of Measurement Units, 
Standards and Services Department (MUSSD) which have been implemented and to report the 
progress of the department in the year 2023.

1.1.	 Introduction
1.1.1.	Metrology
Metrology is the science of measurements and its applications. Measurements related to various 
physical quantities such as mass, length, time, pressure, volume, electric current, temperature and 
electric resistance, etc. are frequently necessary for daily life activities. All the scientific research 
and regulatory activities carried out internationally and locally for sustaining a unity of physical 
quantities and units can be defined as Metrology.

Figure 1: Categories of Metrology

Metrology can be mainly divided into three sub sectors as mentioned above. There is an institution 
bearing responsibility on defining the national measurements system in every country and 
establishing, maintaining and disseminating them as national measurement standards in that country. 
It is generally known as National Metrology Institute (NMI). In Sri Lanka, such obligation is born 
by the Measurement Units, Standards and Services Department.
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1.3	 Key Functions   

MUSSD as the apex Institution for Metrology in Sri Lanka bears the responsibilities of the following 
functions. 

Measurement Units, Standards and Services Department (MUSSD) was established under the 
Measurement Units, Standards and Services Act No. 35 of 1995. MUSSD functions under the 
purview of Ministry of Trade, Commerce and Food Security.   

MUSSD has moved to the Science Center of Tech City in Mahenawatta, Pitipana, Homagama 
in December 2015 from the old premises situated at Colombo 05 (area of 135 perches) due to 
insufficiency of building and land space to accomplish the national requirements and the future 
developments of the field of Metrology. 

The department is responsible for providing accurate and reliable measurement procedures and 
metrology services, safeguarding the interests of the consumer by imposing relevant rules and 
regulations, maintaining and updating the National Measurement Standards in conformity with the 
international measurement system while implementing the provisions of the Units of Measurement, 
Standards and Services Act No. 35 of 1995. In terms of the Section (3) of part II of the Measurement 
Units, Standards and Services Act No. 35 of 1995, the laboratory inside the Measurement, Standards 
and Services Department is known as the National Measurement Laboratory. 

As per the Section III of the said Act, the department shall be responsible for the establishment of 
national measurement standards, maintenance and dissemination, as per the Section IV usage of 

1.2 Vision, Mission, Objectives of the Department

Vision

Mission

Objective
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measurements in trade and as per the Section V and VI, usage of measurements in industrial sector. 
Accordingly, the department shall be responsible for the National Measurement System consisting 
of three sectors called scientific metrology, industrial metrology and legal metrology.

  

Figure 2: Location of Tech City (Source: Innovation hub of Asia- Tech City Sri Lanka 
Western Region Tech City Development Project)

	
Recognition of measurements and national standards related to them used in Sri Lanka, defining 
and establishment of such measurements and standards, its maintenance and dissemination is 
conducted by the National Measurement Laboratory established under the department. Apart from 
that, calibrations and verification services for measuring instruments used in fields such as industry, 
engineering, environment, health protection, road safety, etc. are provided by MUSSD.

Further, the recommendations of the International Organization of Legal Metrology (OIML) are 
followed in legal metrological activities while, pattern approval of electronic and mechanical 
weighing and measuring instruments, and initial and annual verification of such instruments are 
conducted according to those recommendations.

Figure 3: Measurement Units, Standards and Services Department (MUSSD)
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The Legal framework in which the institution is established: Measurement Units, Standards and 
Services Department is established by the Measurement Units, Standards and Services Act No. 35 
of 1995.

Goals of the institution: Establishment of the National Measurement System of Sri Lanka as per 
the international measurements system and regulation.

1.3.1 Scientific Metrology 

This is the most important sector of Metrology. Scientific Metrology is the field on establishing 
measurement unit systems and quantity systems, conducting research on Metrology, discovering 
new measurement methodologies, recognition of international and national standards, definition, 
establishment and dissemination to the users of such standards while keeping its accord. Moreover, 
scientific metrology covers theoretical and practical aspects of identification and resolving 
measurement problems and related issues. There are several measures taken to fulfill the above 
functions related to Scientific Metrology.

01.	Establishment of National Measurement System and measurement units of the country by the 
formation of the National Measurement Laboratory.

02.	Representation, establishment, maintenance and dissemination of National Measurement     
Standards.  

03.	Establishment and maintenance of the National Measurement Standards traceable to 
International Measurement Standards (SI).

04.	Dissemination and promotion of measurement parameters and technology necessary for 
different fields.

05.	Upgrading the calibration and measurement capabilities (CMC) by participating in international 
bilateral and multilateral inter-comparisons related to various quantities.

06.	Metrology research activities.

07.	Generating Sri Lanka Standard Time and broadcasting via www.sltime.org

1.3.1.1 National Measurement Laboratory (NML)

MUSSD operated National Measurement Laboratory with 66 laboratory rooms in its new premises 
in Mahenawatta, Pitipana, Homagama to establish national unit system, to establish national 
measurements unit system, calibration and testing laboratories, regulatory bodies, to maintain 
traceability to industrial and legal metrology sectors and dissemination. Currently, MUSSD operates 
29 laboratories for 13 measurement fields.   
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National Measurement Laboratory Contacts

Laboratory Head of Laboratory Contact Details
Mass Mr. R. D. M. Alanka 0112-182262
Dimensional Mr. A. D. D. Naminda 0112-182267
Time-and Frequency Mr. R. G. S. A. Perera 0112-182265
DC Electricity Mr. R. G. S. A. Perera 0112-182265
Temperature Mr. S. N. Akuranthilaka 0112-182253
Pressure Ms. J. S. M. Silva 0112-182264
Volume Mr. H. L. I. S. Sampath 0112-182266
Electric Power and Energy Mr. R. D. M. Alanka 0112-182262
Chemical Mr. S. D. I. Dias 0112-182258
Gas Mr. R. G. S. A. Perera 0112-182265
Humidity Ms. K. S. Mallawarachchi 0112-182263
Pattern Approval Mr. R. G. S. A. Perera 0112-182265
Force Mr. R. G. S. A. Perera 0112-182265

Table 1

Standards of National Measurement Laboratory

   Physical Quantity Primary/Secondary Standards

Mass 1 kg national prototype of kilogram
1 mg – 20 kg E1 weight set.

Length

He/Ne Lazer light  
K Standard gauge block
• K steel from 0.5 mm to 100 mm  
• K steel from 400 mm to 500 mm
• K Tungsten Carbide from 0.5 mm to 100 mm  
• K Tungsten Carbide from 1 mm to 100 mm special
• 00 Ceramic from 0.5 mm to 100 mm
• 00 Tungsten Carbide from 0.5 mm to 100 mm 
• 0.1 mm precision line scales

Time & Frequency Cs – Primary frequency stranded, Rb -  Primary frequency stranded

Temperature 7 fixed points cover Mercury triple point to Aluminium freezing point          
(-38.834 0C  to 660.323 0C)

DC Electricity
Transfer standard (Up to 1000 V and 20 A) 
1 V,10 V – Zener DC voltage reference 
 Resistance Standards up to 1 GΩ

Pressure
Hydraulic pressure balance range 200 MPa 
Pneumatic pressure balance range 7 MPa 
Pneumatic pressure balance range 175 kPa
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   Physical Quantity Primary/Secondary Standards

Volume 

Micro pipette calibration unit – Mass measurement method (1 µL to 1 
mL) 
Volumetric equipment calibration – Mass measurement method (1 mL 
- 500 L)  
Volumetric equipment calibration – Volumetric Method (2 L - 5000 L)

Electrical power and 
Energy

Comparator on electrical power and energy (Up to10 mA to 120 A, 
300V) MTE K2006 Three phase comparator (0.01%)

Chemical

 (Secondary Buffer Solutions)- pH-0-14
(Reference Solutions - Alcohol in blood)- 50 mg/100 mL,80 mg/100 
mL, 150 mg/100 mL
( Secondary Conductivity Solutions) 84  mg/cm, 1413  mg/cm,12.9  mg/
cm , 111.8 mg/cm   

Humidity  Humidity rooms (from -40 0C to 180 0C)
equipment measuring humidity (10 % - 90 % RH)

Table 2

1.3.1.2. Establishment of Traceability of Measurements

Establishment of measurements traceability for measurements in Sri Lanka is a responsibility of 
National Measurement Laboratory. Sri Lanka standards maintained at the National Measurement 
Laboratory are calibrated by a National Measurement Laboratory of a foreign country according to 
the Measurement Units, Standards and Services Act. The foreign national measurement laboratory 
should be an internationally accepted laboratory by publishing Calibration and Measurement 
Capabilities (CMCs) in key Comparison Data Base (KCDB) of Bureau of Weights and Measures 
(BIPM) website.   

1.3.1.3 Participation of Inter-Laboratory Comparisons

Inter-laboratory comparisons are exercised to maintain the equality of measurements done by 
calibration and testing laboratories.

The National Measurement Laboratory participates in international inter comparisons to demonstrate 
that measurements done in Sri Lanka has similar values with measurements done in other countries. 
This is important to prove the competence of measurements done in Sri Lanka to reduce trade 
barriers in international trade. Furthermore, National Measurement Laboratory facilitate local inter 
laboratory inter comparisons exercise to verify the accuracy of calibration certificates issued by 
local calibration laboratories. 
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1.3.1.4 Maintenance of SI units

The definitions of SI units in current usage were decided to revise at the 26th session of the General 
Conference on Weights and Measures (CGPM) held on 16th November 2018. Accordingly, they 
agreed to revise the SI units, changing the definition of the kilogram, the ampere, the kelvin, and 
the mole.   

All SI units are defined in terms of constants that describe the natural world from 20th May 2019 
from this decision that was made at the 26th session of the General Conference on Weights and 
Measures (CGPM). This will assure the future stability of the SI and open the opportunity for the 
use of new technologies, including quantum technologies, to implement the definitions. The seven 
defining constants of the SI are given in Table 3.

Seven defining constants of the SI

Defining constant Symbol Numerical value Unit
Ground-state hyperfine transition frequency 
of Cs -133 ΔVCs 9 192 631 770 Hz

Speed of light in vacuum c 299 792 458 m s–1

Planck constant h 6.626 070 15 x 10–34 J s

Elementary charge e 1.602 176 634 x 10–19 C

Boltzmann constant k 1.380 649 x 10–23 J K–1

Avogadro constant NA 6.022 140 76 x 1023 mol–1

Luminous efficacy Kcd 683 lm W–1

Table 3

1.3.1.5 Generation and Broadcasting the Standard Time of Sri Lanka
MUSSD possesses the honor to be the pioneer of generating and broadcasting the Standard Time in 
Sri Lanka since 2011. Sri Lanka Standard Time was launched by Time and Frequency Laboratory of 
NML as a new project in order to establish the islandwide unity of time. For the purpose a Rubidium 
Atomic Clock has been established to generate the accurate time in Sri Lanka in accordance with 
Universal Time Co-ordinates (UTC) and the new website www.sltime.org was launched in April 
2011 to broadcast the accurate time. People are now able to set their time correctly via the website 
at any time of the day. All the respective parties are informed to set their clocks with accurate time 
using the website.
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Presently time system consists of Cesium primary frequency standard. Time system was calibrated 
and now contributing to determination of UTC (Co-ordinated Universal Time) at BIPM. Time 
links to BIPM has been established for the traceability. NTP (Network Time Protocol) servers were 
established to dissemination of accurate time.

1.3.2 Activities of Industrial Metrology

Industrial Metrology concerns how to apply measurement science to manufacturing and industrial 
processes. Ensuring the compliance of use of measuring instruments, industrial metrology 
addresses the application of measuring instruments in industry, and quality control of them. There 
the management of measuring instruments and industrial calibration are done according to the 
requirements of a quality production process.

Activities carried out by the department related to Industrial Metrology are as follows :   

1.Providing necessary laboratory facilities for calibration of weights, measures, weighing and 
measuring instruments/systems used in production industry (including laboratory calibrations and 
onsite calibrations) 

2. Inspection and verification of large-scale measuring instruments established in production and 
service industries  

3. Providing necessary training and consultancy on resolving measurement problems raised in 
industrial measurements. 

1.3.2.1 Industrial Calibrations 

Calibration facilities for pressure gauges, thermometers, 
weights, scales and length measuring instruments, 
electrical measuring instruments, moisture meters, 
laboratory balances etc. which are used in industry, 
engineering or any other related field are now available 
at MUSSD. Calibration certificates are also issued with 
such calibrated instruments.

Industrial calibration is one of the main services provided by the National Measurement Laboratory. 
The calibration provided by NML is given below. Amendments of calibration charges are as per 
the extraordinary gazette No. 1921/54 dated 2 July 2015. Measures are being taken to revised the 
charges at present.
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The updated services provided by NML by the end of 2023

Name of the Laboratory Calibration Facilities provided

1  Thermometry Laboratory  1. Clinical Thermometer  
 2. Digital Thermometers
 3.	Dial thermometer probe
 4. RTD & Thermocouple Thermometer  
 5. Liquid in Glass Thermometer  
 6. Maximum Registered  Thermometer  
 7. Min Max Thermometer  
 8. Wall Thermometer  
 9. Surface Probe
10. Infrared Thermometer
11.	Standard Platinum Resistance   
	 Thermometer (Comparison Method)
12. Standard Platinum Resistance 
      Thermometer (Fixed Point Method)
13. Industrial Thermocouple (Comparison 

Method) 
14. Industrial Thermocouple (Fixed Point 

Method)
15. Liquid & Dry Block Calibration Bath
16. Temperature Chart Recorder
17. Laboratory Oven & Furnace
18. Autoclave
19. Incubator & Water Bath
20.	Deep Freezer & Refrigerator (Single 

Chamber, Dual or more Chambers)
21.	Cold Room (Room Temperature 

Measurement) 
22.	Cold Room   (with Thermal Switch 

Indicator)
23.	Thermal Switch/Controllers
24. Data Loggers

2  Electric Power and Energy Laboratory 1. 	kWh meter (single phase)
2. 	kWh meter (Three phase)
3. 	kVA meter (Three phase)
4. 	Portable power/energy meter (single 

phase)
5. 	Portable power/energy meter/energy 

(Three phase)
6. 	Reference Meter (Used in meter 

testing benches/single phase) 
7. 	Reference Meter (Used in meter 

testing benches/three phase) 
8. 	Energy Meter (laboratory/stationary/ 

single phase)   
9. 	Energy Meter (laboratory/stationary /

Three phase)
10. 	Power Meter (Lab/ stationary/ single 

phase/ /Mobile) 
11.	Power Meter (Lab/ stationary/ three 

phase/ /Mobile)
12. 	Harmonic related measurements
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Name of the Laboratory Calibration Facilities provided

3 Volumetric Laboratory 1. Unsub divided Measures
2. Volumetric measures 
3. Measuring cylinders 
4. Provers and large volume tank   
5. Micropipettes, Pipettes & Burettes 

4  Pressure Laboratory As per ISO 17025:2017, accreditation and 
international recognition was obtained. 
The following calibration services are 
provided by this laboratory.  

1. Gas Pressure gauges  
2. Hydraulic Pressure gauges  
3. Mercury Blood Pressure Meter 
4. Digital Blood Pressure Meter 
5. Barometric Pressure Measuring Devices 
6. Vacuum Pressure gauges (-100 kPa)
7. Absolute pressure gauges

5  Mass Laboratory 1. Weights (OIML Class E2, F1, F2, M)
2. Industrial Weights (stainless steel / other) 
3. Balances – Electronic & Mechanical        
(OIML accuracy class I, II, III & IV ) 
4. Paper Scale 
5. Crane Scale 
6. Hanging Scale
7. Weighbridges
8. Button Puller machine
9. Hopper Scale
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Name of the Laboratory Calibration Facilities provided

6  Dimension Laboratory 1. Gauge Blocks 
2. Measuring Ruler 
3. Measuring Tapes  
4. Calipers 
5. Micrometers
6. Height gauges 
7. Indicator gauges 
8. Thickness gauges 
9. Bore gauges
10. Filer gauges   
11. Flatness measurements
12. Microscopes
13. Parallax measurements
14. Line gauges  

7  DC Electrical Laboratory 1. Voltmeter (Direct Current/ Alternating 
current)

2. Ammeter (Direct Current/ Alternating 
current) 

3. Ohmmeter 
4. Multi-meter 
5. Resistor 
6. Voltage Sources
7. Current Sources
8.  Resistance Sources 

8 Electric Time and Frequency Laboratory 1. Time/ stop watch 
2. Frequency/ Tachometer 
3. Oscilloscope  
4. Waves generator
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Name of the Laboratory Calibration Facilities provided

9  Chemical Laboratory 1. Alcolyzers 
2. pH meters
3. Conductivity meters 
4. Conducting of Proficiency Testing for 

laboratories

10  Humidity Laboratory 1. Digital Hygrometers
2. Dry -Wet Bulb Thermometer 
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Name of the Laboratory Calibration Facilities provided

11  Gas Standards Laboratory O2, CO2, CO, HC measuring equipment

12  Pattern Approval Laboratory

                       Lab 01

                       Lab 02

Provision of pattern approvals- New 
equipment and renewal of given pattern 
approval. (Equipment relevant to trade, 
Consumer Protection, Public defense 
Environmental protection)

1.	 Weighing equipment used in trade
2.	 Weighbridges 
3.	 Weighing equipment used for specific 

sectors (for industrial requirements)
4.	 Speed measuring equipment
5.	 Fuel Pumps
6.	 Volumetric equipment 
7.	 Vehicle Fuel testing equipment
8.	 Alcohol Analyzer

  
Table 4
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 1.3.3 Activities of Legal Metrology

Legal Metrology concerns the field of legal control of measurement. It is the process of certifying 
measures and measuring instruments to be complied with measurement laws in the country after 
the inspection of such instruments and measures according to the legal requirements on the use of 
measuring instruments. Necessary legal provisions have been provided via the Act No. 35 of 1995. 
Accordingly, law and regulations made are implemented throughout the sectors like health, public 
safety, environment, enabling taxation, protection of consumers and fair trade.

Activities under legal metrology implemented by Measurement Units, Standards and Services 
Department have been defined in the Act and its regulations. Weighing and measuring found in all 
the commercial transactions are controlled by the measurement law. Accordingly, the Act empowers 
the department to regulate legal metrological activities in the following ways.

01.	 Calibration of working standards and maintenance of such standards in district basis.
       (According to the Act, the District Secretary serves as the Superintendent of Measurement 

Units, Standards and Services and working standards are kept under the custody of him)

02.	 Initial and annual verification of weights, measures, weighing and measuring instruments 
used in trade.

03.	 Registration of manufacturers, importers, repairers and sellers of weights, measures, 
weighing and measuring instruments used in trade annually.

04.	  Protect consumers by implementing the penal section of the act.

05.	 Consumer and trader awareness on Legal Metrology.

06.	 =Granting pattern approval of weights, measures, weighing and measuring instrument used 
in trade and industry (This service is provided by the National Measurement Laboratory)

07.	 Inspection and control of pre-packed commodities 

08.	 Verification of measuring instruments related to road safety and health sector

09.	 Prosecution against persons who commit fraud measurements by conducting market raids.  

	    
1.3.3.1 Re-verification of Working Standards

Working standards used for verifying weights, measures and weighing and measuring instruments 
related to trade and industry have been retained under the custody of secretary of each district in the 
country. Calibration of working standards is done at the National Measurement Laboratory. Working 
standards include standard weights, standard volume measures, and standard-length measures.
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1.3.3.2 Pattern Approvals

The pattern approval is an attestation of any weight, measure or weighing/measuring instrument 
by a recognized laboratory after performing pattern test to check whether they are in conform with 
the measurement law in Sri Lanka, before they are sent to the market by a manufacture or before 
they are imported. Pattern approval is a technical assessment. The original model of the instrument 
is undergone through a series of tests at the National Measurement Laboratory. The design and the 
structure of each of the components of the instrument are checked against the recommendations on 
type approval defined by the International Organization of Legal Metrology (OIML). Subsequently, 
based on the evaluation of the test results a pattern approval is granted by MUSSD for the intended 
weights, and measuring instruments including vehicle emission testing units and fuel dispensers.

1.3.3.3 Verifications, Inspections, and Raids of Weighing and Measuring 
Instruments Conducted on District Basis

Verification of weights, measures, weighing and measuring instruments used in trade is done 
by Inspectors of Measurement Services and Devices who assume duties at Measurement Units, 
Standards & Services Divisions of each District Secretariat.  Field/mobile verification facilities are 
also provided at the verification centers established with the approval of the district secretary as well 
as service representatives as requested. Moreover, a mobile verification unit for weighbridges has 
been commissioned to verify annually all weigh bridges placed in every district. All fuel dispensers 
mounted at every fuel station in the country are verified once every year. For the particular purpose, 
a mobile Fuel Dispensers Verification Unit has been introduced. Also, emission testing equipment 
verification services are maintained.
Inspections and raid Programs are implemented by MUSSD to ensure that the weights, measures, 
weighing and measuring instruments used in the country are utilized in conformity with the weights 
and measures laws and regulations of the country. These programs help in consumer protection as 
well as maintaining an accurate measurement system in the country.

1.3.3.4 Inspection of Pre-Packed Commodities

The commodities that have been packed before selling to the consumers are called Pre-Packed 
Commodities. Inspection of pre- packages is performed according to OIML recommendations to 
verify whether the net content (weight, volume, length etc.) mentioned on the package is actually 
available inside the package. When inspecting pre-packages, net contents of pre-packages that are 
arbitrary sampled from pre- packed goods available in the market are measured. Here number of pre- 
packages specified in the regulations are inspected and statistically analyzed. The final decision on 
the pre- packages by the department after would be based on the statistical analysis and regulations 
made on prepackages by the department after comparing the net content and the results against the 
recommended tolerance/permissible error. Further details are referred to the extraordinary gazette 
No. 1235/13 dated 06 May 2002 & No. 1499/7 dated 29 May 2007.
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 1.3.3.5 Registration of Private Entrepreneurs Engaged in Commercial Activities 
Controlled Over Legal Metrology

Any organization or individual who is engaged in selling, manufacturing, importing or repairing of 
weights, measures, weighing and measuring instruments must register the names in the department 
as per section 21 of the Measurement Units, Standards and Services Act prior to 01st of January 
on each year. For that, the person must apply via a prescribed application form determined by the 
Director of Measurement Units, Standards and Services and the corresponding fees must be paid. 
The certificate issued in such registrations will be expired on 31st December of the year.

Before starting a business of repairing weights or measuring instruments, a person should appear for 
a practical examination conducted by MUSSD to prove his competencies and qualification related 
to such repair activities. Examination fees should be paid by the person.

Further, the workshop/ factory of the applicant is inspected by the officers of MUSSD to check 
whether the necessary tools and equipment are readily available for the repair purposes of weights, 
measures, weighing and measuring instruments. 

The repair license will be issued if the director stiffly with the results of practical test and site 
inspection. (Table 18,19) The license cannot be alienated, Even the owner of the business changed, 
it is mandatory to have a qualified technical person in the business.

Registration fees and all related details have been published in the extraordinary gazette No. 1921/54 
dated 02nd of July 2015.
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1.5	 Departments under the Ministry/ Main Divisions of the Department/
Divisional Secretariats prevailing under District Secretariat

District office Address Telephone No.

Colombo District Secretary, Measurement Units, Standards and 
Services Division, District Secretariat Narahenpita, 
Colombo 5

0112-500987

Gampaha District Secretary, Measurement Units, Standards and 
Services Division, District Secretariat, Gampaha

0332-221664

Kalutara District Secretary, Measurement Units, Standards and 
Services Division, District Secretariat, Kalutara

0342-221765

Puttalam District Secretary, Measurement Units, Standards and 
Services Division, District Secretariat, Puttalam 

0322-266189

Kurunegala District Secretary, Measurement Units, Standards and 
Services Division, District Secretariat, Kurunagala

0372-228770

Kegalle District Secretary, Measurement Units, Standards and 
Services Division, District Secretariat, Kegalle  

0352-221323

Ratnapura District Secretary, Measurement Units, Standards and 
Services Division, District Secretariat, Ratnapura

0452-226299

Galle District Secretary, Measurement Units, Standards and 
Services Division, District Secretariat, Galle

0912-231211

Matara District Secretary, Measurement Units, Standards and 
Services Division, District Secretariat, Matara

0412-237079

Hambantota District Secretary, Measurement Units, Standards and 
Services Division, District Secretariat, Hambantota

0472-256160

Monaragala District Secretary, Measurement Units, Standards and 
Services Division, District Secretariat, Monaragala

0552-277406

Badulla District Secretary, Measurement Units, Standards and 
Services Division, District Secretariat, Badulla

0552-228200

Nuwara Eliya District Secretary, Measurement Units, Standards and 
Services Division, District Secretariat, Nuwara Eliya 

0522-235703

Kandy District Secretary, Measurement Units, Standards and 
Services Division, District Secretariat, Kandy

0812-239971

Mathale District Secretary, Measurement Units, Standards and 
Services Division, District Secretariat, Mathale

0662-222135

Anuradhapura District Secretary, Measurement Units, Standards and 
Services Division, District Secretariat, Anuradhapura

0252-225190
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District office Address Telephone No.

Polonnaruwa District Secretary, Measurement Units, Standards and 
Services Division, District Secretariat, Polonnaruwa

0272-226706

Batticaloa District Secretary, Measurement Units, Standards and 
Services Division, District Secretariat, Batticaloa

0652-226584

Ampara District Secretary, Measurement Units, Standards and 
Services Division, District Secretariat, Ampara

0632-222982

Vavuniya District Secretary, Measurement Units, Standards and 
Services Division, District Secretariat, Vavuniya

0242-224816

Jaffna District Secretary, Measurement Units, Standards and 
Services Division, District Secretariat, Jaffna

0212-217399

Mullaitivu District Secretary, Measurement Units, Standards and 
Services Division, District Secretariat, Mullaitivu

-

Mannar District Secretary, Measurement Units, Standards and 
Services Division, District Secretariat, Manar

0242-224816

Kilinochchi District Secretary, Measurement Units, Standards and 
Services Division, District Secretariat, Kilinochchi

-

Trincomalee District Secretary, Measurement Units, Standards and 
Services Division, District Secretariat, Trincomalee

0262-050800

Table 5

1.6 Institution/ Funds prevailing under the Ministry/ Department/ Provincial 
Council

1.7 Details of the Foreign Funded Projects
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1.7.1 Memberships
Relations in metrological perspectives are created with various countries in order to maintain 
the international and regional corporation of Metrology. It also helps to establish international 
traceability of measurement and overcome the technical barriers arise in trade. International relations 
are essential further to provide a secure basis for scientific and other measurement practices we have 
and to reduce technical disputes arising in many countries.

Associate member Meter Convention and General Conference of Weights and Measures.    

Meter Convention is a conference held on 1875 with a participation of 17 
countries to maintain an accord internationally on measurements. The Meter 
Convention (Convention du Meter) is the ready that created the BIPM which is 
an intergovernmental organization under the authority of the CGPM and the 
supervision of the CIPM as its administrative and scientific organ.   

The General Conference on Weights and Measures (CGPM) is made up of delegates of the 
governments of the Member States and observers from the Associates of the CGPM.  The CGPM 
meets in Paris, usually once in every four years. One of main activity of CGPM is to discusses and 
examines the arrangements required to ensure the propagation and improvement of the International 
System of Units (SI).  

MUSSD has become a signatory of CIPM-MRA in 2007 and obtained the Associate membership 
on the General Conference on Weights and Measures (CGPM).  

Signatory of CIPM Mutual Recognition Arrangement (CIPM-MRA)   

The CIPM Mutual Recognition Arrangement (CIPM MRA) is the framework through 
which National Metrology Institutes demonstrate the international equivalence of 
their measurement standards and the calibration and measurement certificates they 
issue.

The outcomes of the Arrangement are the internationally recognized (peer-reviewed and approved) 
Calibration and Measurement Capabilities (CMCs) of the participating institutes. Approved CMCs 
and supporting technical data are publicly available in the key Comparison (KCDB) in BIPM web 
site. MUSSD has become a signatory of CIPM-MRA in 2007 and is in the process of publishing 
CMC values in KCDB.

Full Membership of The International Organization of Legal Metrology 
(OIML)  

The International Organization of Legal Metrology (OIML) is an intergovernmental 
treaty organization which develops model regulations, standards and related 
documents for use by legal metrology authorities and industry, provides mutual 

recognition systems which reduce trade barriers and costs in a global market etc. The OIML can be 
considered as “International standard-setting body” of the World Trade Organization’s Technical 
Barriers to Trade Agreement. OIML publications should therefore be applied, when appropriate, by 
all signatories of the TBT Agreement when developing technical regulations.
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The International Committee of Legal Metrology (CIML) is the functional decision-making body of 
OIML. Sri Lanka is full member state of OIML and MUSSD is the main permanent contact of the 
OIML designated by government of Sri Lanka. 

Full Member of the Asia Pacific Metrology Program (APMP) 

The Asia Pacific Metrology Program (APMP) is a grouping of National Metrology 
institutes (NMIs) from the Asia-Pacific region engaged in improving regional 
metrological capability through the sharing of expertise and exchange of technical 
services among Member laboratories. APMP is also the Asia Pacific regional 

metrology organization recognized by the International Committee on Weights and Measures 
(CIPM) in the process of achieving mutual recognition of measurement standards and calibrations 
and measurement certificates worldwide. 

MUSSD is a member of APMP since 1977. The department actively participates to 9 technical 
committees and 6 focus groups.

The chairmanship of the committee on developing countries at the Asia Pacific Metrology program 
of 2021 was received to the Deputy Director of MUSSD, Mr. S.D.I. Dias for the first time for a 
period of 3 years starting from 2022. 

1.7.2 Benefits of projects

PTB-Sri Lanka bi-lateral Project 
Strengthening Quality Infrastructure in Sri Lanka

PTB is the National Metrology Institute (NMI) of Germany. It 
supports developing and emerging countries to develop and apply an 
internationally recognized quality infrastructure that suits the countries’ 

needs. Objective of the PTB-Sri Lanka bi-lateral project is to increase the use of the enhanced 
offer of quality-assurance services based on international good practices by Small and Medium-
sized Enterprises (SME) located in the Northern region. The MUSSD act as a main project partner 
in national level of this project. Benefits are received from this project for training, consultation 
services and development of measurement activities for the National Measurement Laboratory.

The project includes the core institutions of the national Quality Infrastructure (MUSSD, ITI, SLSI 
and SLAB) as well as regional laboratories, local chambers and federations in the North and North 
Central provinces.
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SAARC-PTB Project
Strengthening regional integration and cooperation in the field of quality infrastructure in 
South Asia.

The project focuses on capacity development in quality infrastructure by facilitating the exchange 
of expertise and information among SAARC Member States. MUSSD has been a beneficiary 
of the SAARC-PTB project (i e: Training Programrs, workshops) of the project as the National 
Measurement Institition (NMI) of Sri Lanka. Furthermore, MUSSD has participated inter laboratory 
comparisons organized under SAARC-PTB project to demonstrate measurement capacities of the 
National Measurement Laboratory (NML) of MUSSD. This project is financed by Federal Ministry 
for Economic Cooperation and Development (BMZ), Germany through National Metrology institute 
of Germany, PTB.

MEDEA-PTB Project

The project aims to improve the ability of the regional metrology specialist networks 
in Asia – the Asia Pacific Metrology Program (APMP) and the Asia-Pacific Legal 
Metrology Forum (APLMF) – to promote the metrological systems of developing 
economies, which provide special offers for national metrology institutes (NMI) and 
legal metrology authorities (LMA) in Asia, respectively. This project is financed by 

Federal Ministry for Economic Cooperation and Development (BMZ), Germany through National 
Metrology Institute of Germany, PTB.

 
UNIDO Project

 UNIDO has been working closely with Sri Lanka’s national quality infrastructure 
(NQI) institutes to facilitate the strengthening of compliance and quality 
infrastructure services. Special areas of focus are those underpinning the export 
oriented sectors, such as spices and processed foods. These activities take place 
within the framework of a European Union (EU)–Sri Lanka trade-related assistance 

project, funded by the EU. The new project of UNIDO organization is currently in process to provide 
quality infrastructure in order to strengthen the food security and defense of Sri Lanka. The MUSSD 
acts as a main project partner in this project as well. Training, consultation services and equipment 
for measurement laboratories as foreign donations are provided by this project. 
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2
Progress and Outlook

Special Achievements 

•	 Obtaining CMC international recognition

Volumetric Laboratory

We have been able to accredit the Volumetric Laboratory, and Dimensional Laboratory by establishing 
and maintaining the Quality Management System (QMS) as well as preparing the technical manual 
and meeting the requirements of ISO/IEC 17025:2017.

•	 Establishment of Trade Data System & Sticking stickers on measuring equipments 

Our Department has worked to prepare a trade data system by including the information of the shops 
that use all the weighing and measuring devices scattered across Sri Lanka.
From the year 2023, stickers will be affixed to the measuring devices so that the customer can 
identify them in every weighing and measuring device verified by our Department by placing stamps 
on the said measuring devices. At present, around 260,000 stickers have been printed and distributed 
among the district offices for this purpose.

•	 Purchase of two modified buses

A District Measurement Unit, Standards and Service Division has been established under each 
District Secretariat to regulate the weighing and measuring activities carried out in all commercial 
activities.

Two modified buses were provided to suit the needs of the Department in order to remedy the lack 
of adequate transport facilities, which was a major problem in bringing the services provided by the 
above District Measurement Unit, Standards and Service Divisions to the public.

Our Department has been able to provide an efficient service covering all the areas within a district by 
means of buses equipped with a mobile measuring service laboratory that provides those measuring 
services.

This has made it possible to complete many different daily measurement service duties in one day, 
to make the department services customer friendly, and to improve the quality and quantity of the 
services.
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2.1 Establishment of Traceability of Measurements in the National Measurement 
Laboratory
 
Information regarding traceability of Measurements in the National Measurement Laboratory up to 
2023 are given below.

Standard / Measurement National Institute of Metrology / Reference 
Standard

Standard Platinum Resistance Thermometer National Institute of Metrology UK (NPL-UK)

PH Measurements conductivity Amount of 
Alcohol in blood

Secondary

Secondary Buffer Solution

Secondary standard conductive solution

Certified Reference Material in blood

Cs atomic watch Bureau of International Weights and Measures 
(BIPM)

Gauge Blocks 00 Series - Ceramic (0.5-100 
mm)

Gauge Blocks Grade 1 - Steel (0.1-1 mm)
He/Ne Lazer Source (Red)

National Metrology Institute
Finland (VTT MIKES)

2.2 Participation to Inter Laboratory Comparisons

Laboratory Measurement Inter-comparison

Thermometry  Glass-liquid thermometers
PT 100   -35 0C to 280 0C   Inter-comparison DEC APMP/TCT/LIGT

Time and 
frequency Time and frequency CCTF-K001.UTC

Pressure Liquid pressure gauge 
(700 bar)

Issuing the final report of the Regional 
Proficiency Testing (PT 01) conducted to 
support the countries to obtain accreditation 
according to ISO 17025 by serving as the pilot 
laboratory for intercomparison between Nepal, 
Uzbekistan, Mongolia and Kyrgyzstan.

Mass
E2 weights with E1 weights 
(100 mg,1 g, 50 g, 200 g & 
1 Kg)

Inter comparison with NIMT 
APMP.M.M.H1-2023

Table 6

Table 7
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2.3 Research and Development Affairs -  2023

Experiments are conducted to assure the quality of maintenance and distribution of various 
measurement standards of National measurement laboratory. Further, calibration procedures are 
developed frequently to calibrate measuring instruments used in the industry. Each section of the 
National Measurement Laboratory is detailed below.

Division of Mass Measurements

•	 Completed establishing a mass comparator of CCE 1000S-L.

•	 Real Time Temperature and Humidity Monitoring System (IoT Project)

•	 40 weights of M1 category with a weight of 20 Kg and 50 weights of M1 category with a 
weight of 20 Kg were received by the laboratory for establishing measurement traceability in 
district offices and calibration laboratory by the Mass Measurement Laboratory.

•	 The mass measurement laboratory submitted applications in December for certification of 
accreditation for Class E2, from 1 mg to 2 Kg weights calibration.

Division of Thermophysical Measurements

•	 Ability to increase the calibration range of glass-liquid thermometers (Lights) from -35o C to 
280o C.

•	 Ability to increase accuracy from 0.001 o C to 0.000001 o C for Digital Temperature Probes.

•	 Conducting research and development on Digital Thermocouple calibration.

•	 Verifying the Accuracy of LIGTs using two different medium.

•	 Verifying the Accuracy of TCs using two different directions.

•	 Verifying the Accuracy of High Temperature Data Loggers using two different medium

•	 Installation of laboratory system for calibrating glass-liquid thermometers for high temperature 
ranges.

Division of Humidity & Moisture

•	 Initiating a research and development process required to establish a procedure to calibrate the 
moisture meter used in the cinnamon industry.

Division of Dimensional Measurements

•	 Update of calibration procedure of rulers.

	 The model equation of this calibration was replaced by a new equation taking into account 
the thermal effect on the ruler during the calibration. Uncertainty analysis is also amended 
according to the new model equation.
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•	 Calibration of a K grade 11 pieces set of TC gauge blocks first time.

	 The first time of calibrating a K grade 11 pieces set used for comparator calibration. This set 
was compared against our K grade 11 pieces set traceable to PTB

•	 Preliminary study on calibration of Gauge blocks comparators was conducted.

A study was conducted on calibration of Gauge blocks comparators by using the K grade 
special set of gauge blocks traceable to PTB Germany.

•	 Study of contact deformation and vertical shrinkage of gauge blocks.

A study was conducted to determine the effect of contact deformation and vertical shrinkage 
of long gauge blocks. These two factors are not considered significant in the usual practice. So 
it is expected to study the two parameters affecting the central deviation of long gauge blocks. 
Long gauge blocks manufactured by three reputed companies were used to study these effects.

•	 Revision of calibration procedure of rulers.

	 As per the advice from the peer reviewer Dr. C.S. Kang the model equation of the ruler 
calibration was amended by adding a length dependent term. Accordingly, the uncertainty 
analysis section was also updated. This new model is to be used when determining CMC for 
ruler calibration.

•	 Cosine error and Abbe error determination.

	 A study was implemented to find quantitatively the cosine error contribution to the ruler 
calibration. In this case the Agilent 5519A laser and the applicable optics were used to find 
the Abbe error of the BMG2000 calibrator in the range of 2000 mm. the cosine error was 
determined by visual inspection of the drift from 0 to 2000 mm position

•	 Impact of Thermal stability measurement when calibrating rulers.

A study was performed to identify the behaviour of thermal stabilization of a 2 m steel ruler 
and the scale of the BMG2000 tape calibrator. Three temperature measurements were taken 
continuously for several days at left end, middle, and right end of the tape calibrator as well 
as the 2 m long ruler. It was found that the temperature of right-hand end of the machine as 
well as the ruler have a lower temperature than expected. A temperature deviation is observed 
because of uneven distribution of airflow of the AC machine. As a remedy a big screen with a 
poly ethylene was introduced in front of the tape calibrator such that it covers the right-hand 
end of the measurement bench.   

•	 A test was conducted to observe Temperature measurement of calipers.

	 A new study was started to measure the temperature effect of calipers during calibrations. 
Two types of gloves also were tested to identify their thermal conduction during caliper 
calibration. Calipers of 300 mm and 150 mm ranges were used in this study. It was found that 
for a 30 min continuous holding by hand result in about 6 Celsius increases in temperature 
of the caliper beam. Even though gloves are used to hold calipers it was found that the beam 
temperature is increasing beyond 21 Celsius. Hence, wearing gloves does not prevent enough 
the thermal conduction from hands during the calibration of calipers. According to this study 
the temperature effect is concerned very much than earlier when use the calibration procedure 
of calipers.
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	 Divisions of Volumetric and Pressure Measurements
•	 Initiation of the necessary process to prepare the necessary methods for calibrating the 

equipment used in the field of Infusion Pump/Syringe Pump and provide calibration facilities 
to those fields together with the laboratories of volumetric and pressure.

	   Division of DC Electrical Measurements
•	Evaluation of maximum capabilities, drift and short-term stability of measurement of direct 

current from 1 mA to 20 A.

•	Evaluation of Maximum capabilities, drift and short – term stability of measurement of 
Resistance 1 Ω, 100 Ω and 10 KΩ by ratio measurements and direct measurements.

Division of Volumetric Measurements
•	 Preparation of Technical Guideline to Calibrate Flow Meters using Standards Provers as per 

the OIMLR120 Guideline.

          Division of Pressure Measurements
•	Establishing a methodology and equipment plan for the calibration of pressure equipment 

used to measure environmental atmospheric pressure.

•	Testing of Non-Invasive Sphygmomanometers (Automatic and Non -Automatic).

2.4 Training and Consultancy Conducted by NML in 2023

Training Course Charges in Rs. Number of 
participants

Calibration of Weights and Uncertainty Calculation 30,000.00 04

Evaluation and Expression of Uncertainty in 
Measurement (for physical measurement)

                                                      
127,500.00 17

Calibration of Pressure Gauges            67,500.00 09

Dimensional Metrology            82,500.00 11

Principle of Measurement Uncertainty & Application in 
Physical & Chemical Testing Fields

                   
75,000.00 25

Calibration of Volumetric Apertures using Gravimetric 
Method 30,000.00 4

Evaluation and Expression of Uncertainty in 
Measurement (for physical measurement)            37,500.00 5

Basic Course on Calibration of Electrical and Time & 
Frequency Instruments          112,500.00 15

Total 562,500.00 90

√ 	 Providing consultancy services and carrying out research and development process for 
manufacturing digital industrial thermometers. Accordingly, in 2023, 18 thermometers and 31 
temperature sensors have been processed and numbered to be presented to the foreign market.

Table 8
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√    	Lectures on ultra-precise measurements were given to 73 students of the Faculty of Technology 
of the University of Colombo and lectures on metrology were given to 36 students of the Faculty 
of Technology of the University of Vavuniya.

√    	Internship offered to students of several local universities

Date No. of 
Students University Laboratory

2022.09.05-
2023.03.05

01 Sabaragamuwa University of Sri 
Lanka Volumetric Laboratory

2022.09.05-
2023.03.05 01 Sabaragamuwa University of Sri 

Lanka Dimensional Laboratory

2022.09.05-
2023.03.05 01 Sabaragamuwa University of Sri 

Lanka Laboratory on Electric 
Power and Energy2023.05.02-

2023.07.21 01 University of Sri Jayawardenepura

2022.09.05-
2023.03.05 02 University of Sri Jayawardenepura

Laboratory on Mass2023.05.02- 
2023.07.21 01 University of Sri Jayawardenepura

2023.01.23-
2023.03.23 01 University of Vavuniya, Sri Lanka

2023.01.23-
2023.03.23 02 University of Vavuniya, Sri Lanka Chemical Laboratory

2023.05.02- 
2023.07.21 01 University of Sri Jayawardenepura Laboratory on DC 

Electricity

2.5 Progress of International Relations - 2023

The MUSSD has maintained following international relations related to Metrology by now.

2.5.1 Full membership of Asia Pacific Metrology Program (APMP)        
MUSSD has participated in following APMP meetings in 2023 as follows.  

•	 Asia Pacific Metrology Program Mid-Year Meeting 
	 Ulambata, Mongolia
	 From 12th to 16th July, 2023

Representing the Department of Measurement Units, Standards and Services, Deputy Director, Mr. 
S.D.I. Dias as the Chairman of the Developing Committee of the Asian Pacific Metrology Program 
and Deputy Director, Mr.R.G.S.A. Perera attended for this event.

Table 9
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•	 Asia Pacific Metrology Program Year - End meeting 
	 Shenzhen, China
	 From 27th November to 3rd December
	 Deputy Director Mr. S.D.I. Dias as the Chairman of the Developing Economies’ Committee 

(DEC) of the Asian Pacific Metrology Program, Deputy Director Mrs. J.S.M. Silva and Mr. 
H.L.I.S. Sampath participated for this event representing the Department of Measurement Units, 
Standards and Services. 

•	 Deputy Director for Technical Committees of the Asia Pacific Metrology Program (APMP) 
held in Shenzhen, China. Mr. S.D.I. Dias, Deputy Director, Mrs. J.S.M.Silva and Mr. H.L.I.S. 
Sampath participated live and Deputy Directors of Departments who are the other committee 
members participated via online.

Technical Committees
√ 	 TCT - Temperature - Director – Mr. S.N. Akuranthilake 
√ 	 TCL – Length and Dimensions – Mr. A.D.D.Naminda
√ 	 TCM - Mass Coupling Quantities – Deputy Director - Mrs. J.S.M. Silva and Mrs. 

K.S.Mallawarachchi
√ 	 TCTF – Time and Frequency  - Deputy Director -  Mr. R.G.S.A. Perera
√ 	 TCQM - Quantification of Materials, Chemistry, Biology and Metrology- Deputy Director 

- Mr. S.D.I. Dias
√ 	 TCEM - Electricity and magnetism - Deputy Director -  Mr. R.G.S.A. Perera and Mr. 

R.D.M. Alanka
√ 	 TCPR - Photometry and Radiometry - Deputy Director - Mr. R.D.M. Alanka
√ 	 TCFF - Materials and Flows - Deputy Director - Mr. H.L.I.S. Sampath
√ 	 TCQS - Quality Systems - Deputy Director - Mr. R.G.S.A. Perera

Energy Efficiency Focus Group - Deputy Director - Mr. R.D.M. Alanka and Mrs. Chandrika 
Garusinghe were participated.

•	 Mr. S.D.I. Dias, Deputy Director of the Department, participated in the Annual General Meeting 
of the Asia Pacific Metrology Program held on 02nd and 03rd of December, 2023.

•	 Asia Pacific Metrology Program Directors Conference was attended by Department Director 
Mr. S.N. Akuranthilaka via online and Deputy Director Mr. S. D. I. Dias also participated as the 
Chairman of the Development Economy Committee of the Asia Pacific Metrology Program.

Program of the Developing Economies’ Committee on Asian Pacific Metrology Program 
(APMP - DEC).

•	 Support for Capabilities Measurement Capabilities in regional countries being organized under 	
	 the APMP DEC Task Force was conducted in the year 2023. Mass Measurement Laboratory of 	
	 the National Measurement Laboratory participating in the said program.

•	 Online Counselling Topic: DEC Task Force for Support to Publish CMC’s for Mass
	 Resource Contribution: Mrs. Ransiya -Consultant in Mass Measurement at NIMT
	 Training Period : From 10th of January 2023 to 14th of December 2023

•	   The following training programs were conducted via online under APMP DEC Task Force.
√   Calculation of measurement uncertainties
√   Laboratory Quality Management ISO 17025
√   Recommendations on mass measurement R111
Mass Metrology OIML Recommendation R111
Mass Metrology, Calibration of Mass Standard & Understanding of Calibration Certificate 
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2.5.2 	 PTB National Metrology Institute of Germany - Physikalisch Technische 
Bundesanstalt Sri Lanka Bilateral Projects)

Institution - German National Institute of Metrology
Name of the project - National Quality Infrastructure Development Project – Phase I/ II         
Strengthening Quality Infrastructure in Sri Lanka – Phase I/ II  (2016-  2023)

The second phase of the PTB project involved the development of national quality infrastructure 
in Sri Lanka. Department of Measurement Units, Standards and Services acted as a National Level 
Major Project Partner in this project. Various benefits in training, consultancy services and metrology 
development were received for the National Measurement Laboratory (NML).

The following activities were carried out with the support of the year 2023 PTB project.

•	 Conducting a two-day training program for the personnel of the mass measurement laboratory 
by Ms. Anett Matbadal, a mass measurement consultant. (25th &26th of April, 2023)

•	 On the occasion of the completion of the second phase of the national quality infrastructure 
development project, Mr. Uwe Messner, the head of the Asian region of the German National 
Metrology Institute, held a discussion with the department heads on December 11, 2023 and 
also engaged in an observation tour of the National Measurement Laboratory.

•	 The National Quality Infrastructure Development Project Completion Workshop was held on 
December 13, 2023 at the Cinnamon Lakeside Hotel in Colombo and was attended by the 
Department Director and Deputy Directors.
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2.5.3  MEDEA - PTB Project

Contribution of MEDEA - PTB project to the activities of the National Measurement 
Laboratory

•	 Providing financial contribution for Mr. Tawat Changpan, a barometer expert who came to 
Sri Lanka to prepare reports for the laboratory’s equipment, which will be used for regional 
intercomparisons developed by the barometer laboratory in July.

•	 Providing financial contribution to Deputy Director Mr. S.D.I. Dias to participate in the MEDEA-
DEC Strategic Plan Review Workshop held in Bangkok, Thailand in February.

•	 Providing financial contribution to Deputy Director, Mr. R.G.S.A. Perera to participate for the 
digital calibration certification training held at National Measurement Laboratory, Thailand in 
August.

•	 Providing financial contribution to Deputy Director, Mrs. J.S.M. Silva for the MEDEA – 
Calibration Capabilities for Infusion / Syringe pump analyzers training program held at the 
National Measurement Laboratory of Thailand in April.

•	 Providing financial contribution to Deputy Directress, Mrs. J.S.M. Silva to participate in the 
Metrology in Acoustics, Ultrasound and Vibration training program held in June in Korea in 
conjunction with the National Measurement Laboratory of South Korea and the Global Academy 
of Measurement. 

•	 Providing financial contribution to Deputy Director, Mr. R.D.M. Alanka and the measurement 
inspection officer, Mrs. G.D.S.C. Garusinghe for workshop on Measurement of Sustainable 
Energy of Thailand held in August.

2.5.4  UNIDO Project

Organization - United Nations Industrial Development Organization
Project Name - Mainstreaming Standards Based Best Practices for Agri-Food Sector 
Development. (2021-2023)

The organization’s new project aims to provide quality infrastructure to strengthen food security 
and safety in Sri Lanka. Measurement Units, Standards and Services Department will be the main 
project partner in this project. This project will provide equipment for metrology fields related to the 
above project of the National Measurement Laboratory as foreign aid.

The following activities were carried out with project support in the year 2023 (UNIDO).

•	 Counselor Xavier Gomez conducted a counseling program for the personnel of the Moisture and 
Humidity Laboratory in January and May.

•	 A two-day training program was conducted in July for the personnel of the Moisture and 
Humidity Laboratory.
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•	 Conducting one day training program in September for the officers of Moisture and Humidity 
Laboratory.

•	 Deputy Director, Mr. S.D.I. Dias, Deputy Director Mrs. J.S.M. Silva and Mr. H.L.I.S. Sampath 
participated live for Technical Committees of the Asia Pacific Metrology Program (APMP) held 
in Shenzhen, China while financial contribution was provided to attend the conference.

2.5.5. Coordination of UNIDO and PTB projects
 
•	 A project review meeting was held at the departmental premises during the first quarter of 2023 

with the Departmental Director and Deputy Directors with bilateral involvement of PTB Project 
Officers and UNIDO Project Officers. In this occasion, they also engaged in an observation tour 
of the National Measurement Laboratory.

•	 Providing financial contribution for metrology expert Mr. Goutam Mandal who participated in 
the Peer Review of the Volumetric Laboratory in January.

•	 Financial support for Mrs. Rungsiys Sukhon, a metrology expert, who participated in a Pre Peer 
Review and Hybrid Comparison in the mass measurement laboratory in May. (May 23, 2023 to 
May 29, 2023)

2.5.6. Other Meetings

•	 Prior discussion with VTT MIKES Institute on innovation of Gauge Blocks Interferometer. This 
was conducted online.
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2.7 Pre packaging, vehicle emission and speed detectors income of the National 
Measurement Laboratory
Apart from the calibration activities, NML conducts inspection of pre -packaged goods, verification 
of vehicle emission testing equipments and speed detectors.  

Category No. of Units Income 

Speed detectors 33 62,000.00

Inspection of pre packaged goods 
(Factories)

12 163,000.00

Emission measuring equipment 1,149 5,745,000.00

Total 1,194 5,970,000.000

2.8 Pattern Approval of Weighing and Measuring Instruments in 2023 

Type of Pattern Approval Pattern 
Approval 

requests in 
2023

No. of units 
for which 
the pattern 

approval was 
granted

Revised 
Equipment 

Income

Electronic Weighing Machines 64 44 - 1,376,340.00

Fuel Dispensers 6 7 - 170,000.00

Total 70 51 - 1,546,340.00
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2.9 Verification Income from 2022 to 2023

District Verification Fees 2021 to 2023 in Rs. (Excluding Taxes)     

2022 2023
Colombo 18,458,117.12 25,492,338.00
Gampaha 31,385,136.81 36,488,962.57
Kalutara 11,206,639.57 13,414,780.00
Head Office 57,422,930.37 83,172,144.61
 118,472,823.37 158,568,225.18
Kandy 19,998,186.72 21,906,850.00
Matale 7,426,830.00 8,915,130.00
Nuwaraeliya 7,400,842.56 9,466,590.00
 34,825,859.28 40,288,570.00
Galle 9,897,530.61 13,175,477.22
Matara 11,465,872.00 13,529,597.22
Hambantota 10,474,790.00 12,008,449.57
 31,838,192.61 38,713,524.01
Batticaloa 5,872,487.48 6,819,910.00
Ampara 9,880,164.35 10,509,557.57
Trincomalee 3,003,050.00 2,851,034.78
 18,755,701.83 20,180,502.35
 Kurunegala 20,507,823.65 25,486,893.48
 Puttlam 7,942,069.57 10,459,876.00
 28,449,893.22 35,946,769.48
Anuradhapura 13,312,175.30 15,902,670.00
Polonnaruwa 7,867,856.42 8,458,789.30
 21,180,031.72 24,361,459.30
Badulla 12,605,350.00 13,704,842.00
Monaragala 8,530,889.07 9,905,390.00
 21,136,239.07 23,610,232.00
Ratnapura 11,756,107.52 14,012,740.00
Kegalle 9,256,101.79 11,220,640.00

21,012,209.31 25,233,380.00
Mulativu 1,046,810.00 667,265.00
Mannar 1,083,390.00 1,280,409.57
Kilinochchi 802,054.83 1,345,909.57
Jaffna 4,877,582.69 6,138,764.78
Vavuniya 2,176,710.00 2,624,010.00
 9,986,547.52 12,056,358.92
Total 305,657,498.43 378,959,021.24

Table 14
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Number of units verified in 2022-2023 

Month Income Rs.  No. of Verified Units

2022 2023 2022 2023 

January 27,167,373.00 32,216,769.13 42,501 40,458

February 31,846,102.00 39,004,866.17 51,394 48,550

March 34,060,582.00 41,898,349.30 45,381 47,741

April 18,577,798.00 21,009,319.57 19,575 24,381

May 14,999,341.00 31,649,467.48 18,240 34,027

June 17,642,182.00 28,420,120.78 21,661 29,919

July 8,174,907.00 28,940,394.17 8,092 30,116

August 24,258,595.00 29,093,068.00 26,898 32,657

September 28,845,935.00 30,287,412.96 34,795 36,249

October 30,640,394.00 31,645,148.00 34,366 40,620

November 33,842,622.00 32,830,857.00 37,176 36,564

December 35,601,667.00 33,230,198.00 38,743 33,489

Total 305,657,498.00 378,959,019.00 378,822 434,771
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    Graph No.  3

Table 15
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2.10  Verification program  Income in 2020-2023
 

District No. of Verified Units (2020-2023)

2020 2021 2022 2023
Colombo 79,813 77,773 57,387 75,532
Gampaha 45,861 45,830 29,802 34,105
Kalutara 16,803 9,539 12,725 14,744

142,477 132,132 99,914 124,381
Kandy 49,934 29,825 30,293 39,694
Matale 16,517 14,018 11,654 12,451
Nuwara Eliya 14,659 9,303 10,305 12,033

81,110 53,146 52,252 64,178
Galle 24,143 16,114 14,629 17,280
Matara 24,092 18,023 17,864 18,323
Hambantota 18,419 16,715 15,935 16,889

66,654 50,852 48,428 52,492
Batticaloa 23,057 18,649 17,164 16,143
Ampara 20,574 17,029 16,640 17,553
Trincomalee 6,753 2,620 4,633 3,855

50,384 38,298 38,437 37,551
Kurunegala 38,536 27,963 26,418 30,969
Puttalam 12,188 8,561 8,933 11,022

50,724 36,524 35,351 41,991
Anuradhapura 26,303 22,362 18,197 19,988
Polonnaruwa 12,315 10,658 10,420 10,638

38,618 33,020 28,617 30,626
Badulla 21,435 17,953 17,323 18,371
Monaragala 22,217 17,771 16,321 16,617

43,652 34,480 33,644 34,988
Ratnapura 20,844 15,322 16,452 17,697
Kegalle 15,584 11,193 12,432 14,381

36,428 26,515 28,884 32,078
Mulativu 172 1,182 1,628 1,075
Mannar 1,737 1,593 1,588 1,800
Kilinochchi 1,515 1,668 1,456 1,967
Jaffna 9,501 4,360 7,877 8,782
Vavuniya 3,438 3,090 2,835 2,862

16,363 11,893 15,384 16,486

Total 526,410 419,114 380,911 434,771

Table 16
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Graph No.  4

2.11 Amount of Raids and cases in 2022-2023

Month Number of Raids Number of Cases filed 

2022 2023 2022 2023

January 1,233 579 36 13

February 784 2,075 35 139

March 48 2,132 2 73

April 35 6,299 0 478

May 0 2,129 0 86

June 0 2,753 0 126

July 2 1,844 0 61

August 434 2,992 18 107

September 1,185 2,278 40 94

October 2,156 1,377 90 82

November 1,675 2,652 25 77

December 1,174 3,078 27 96

Total 8,726 30,188 273 1,432

Table 17
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 2.13 Quarterly progress of Awareness Programs- 2023 
           (Targeted number of programs and actual number held)

District January–March April - June July - September October – Dec.

 Target Achieved  Target Achieved  Target Achieved  Target Achieved 

HQ Colombo
12 25 12 8 12 8 12 12

Colombo 10 31 10 45 10 22 10 1,025

Gampaha 12 0 12 0 11 2 12 0

Kalutara 9 2 9 3 9 4 9 5

Puttalam 9 0 10 6 9 6 9 19

Kurunegala 12 15 12 28 12 9 12 23

Kegalle 9 13 10 4 9 15 9 13

Ratnapura 9 0 9 0 10 0 8 0

Galle 9 0 10 3 9 12 9 17

Matara 9 0 9 5 10 12 8 12

Hambantota 9 14 10 17 9 9 9 107

Monaragala 9 8 9 16 9 8 9 16

Badulla 9 60 9 74 8 110 10 120

Nuwara Eliya 11 0 9 0 9 0 8 3

Kandy 9 10 12 0 11 0 12 18

Matale 9 16 9 22 9 3 9 10

Anuradhapura 8 23 10 18 9 14 9 5

Polonnaruwa 8 0 7 6 8 5 7 6

Trincomalee 8 1 8 0 7 0 7 0

Batticaloa 8 6 8 7 7 6 7 59

Ampara 8 8 8 8 7 14 7 30

Vavuniya 5 4 6 0 5 0 5 0

Jaffna 7 0 8 0 9 0 7 2

Mullaitivu 4 0 5 0 6 0 5 35

Mannar  4 4 5 2 6 3 5 2

Kilinochchi 5 0 5 0 5 0 5 24

Total 221 240 231 272 225 262 219 1,569

Table 19
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2.14 Distribution of Private Entrepreneurs Engaged in Commercial Activities - 
2023

District Number of Registered Persons in Each Category

Manufacturers Importers Traders Repairers 

Colombo 05 22 34 65

Gampaha 03 06 21 38

Kalutara 02 - 17 26

Galle 02 - 10 16

 Matara - - 05 09

Hambantota - - 03 07

Kandy 02 01 21 32

Nuwara Eliya - - 01 05

 Matale - 01 06 03

Badulla - 01 08 18

Kegalle 01 - 05 06

Ratnapura - - 12 07

Kurunegala - 01 14 18

 Anuradhapura - - 05 07

Monaragala 01 - 03 03

Vavuniya - - 03 01

Jaffna - - 01 03

Ampara - - 07 05

Batticaloa - - 03 04

Polonnaruwa - - 03 02

Puttalam - - 06 05

Trincomalee - - 02 -

Kilinochchi - - 01 01

Mullaitivu - - - 01

Mannar - - 01 -

Total 16 32 192 182

Table 20
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2.15 Registrations of Private Entrepreneurs Engaged in Commercial Activities 
- 2023

Registration Category
Number of Registered 

Persons in 2023

Manufacturers of weighing / measuring instruments 16

Repairers of weighing / measuring instruments 182

Importers of weighing / measuring instruments 32

Sellers of weighing / measuring instruments 192

Total 422

Registration Fees in Rs. 1,269,900.00

 (Face value of the stamps is included in the above table )

Graph No. 9

Table 21
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Challenges and Future Targets 

The year 2023 was a new year that came with the end of many internal crises, and a period of 
transitional change and progress in many of the Department’s objectives. In order to alleviate 
the economic crisis situation, following the government expenditure management guidelines, all 
the activities related to metrology had to be strengthened and innovations had to be carried out 
continuously.

After examining the National Strategic Plans presented by the Government of Sri Lanka aimed 
at achieving national goals, we have identified that metrology plays a major role in the strategies 
for a “people-centric economy” in line with the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals 
on poverty. Accordingly, even at the peak of the last economic crisis, we paid special attention to 
revive the trade sector of the economy, and thus the year 2023 has ensured the credibility of Sri 
Lanka’s internal trade. In the year 2024, based on the experience and achievements of the year 2023, 
performance goals have been planned to carry out many effective operations to boost the national 
economy.

Director of Measuring Units, Standards and Services
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3 
Overall Financial Performance 

For the year ended 31st of December 2023.       
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3.1   Statement of Financial Performance (Consolidated Fund)

ACA -F

        For the year ended 31st December 2023
       Statement of Financial Performance (Consolidated Fund)

Rs.
 Amended 
Budgetary 
Allocations

2023 

       Note    Actual

        2023   2022

                        
-   Revenue Receipts                   -   

                        
-   Income Tax 1                   -   

                        
-   

Taxes on Domestic 
Goods & Services 2                   -    ACA -1

                        
-   

Taxes on International 
Trade 3                   -   

                        
-   

Non Tax Revenue & 
Others 4                   -   

                        
-   

Total Revenue Receipts 
(A)                   -   

                        
-   Non Revenue Receipts - - 

                        
-   Treasury Imprests 164,300,000 166,958,388 ACA-3

                        
-   Deposits 297,229 145,069 ACA-4

                        
-   Advance Accounts 7,225,245 6,214,614 ACA-5

                        
-   

Other main ledger 
account receipts - -

                        
-   

Total Non Revenue 
Receipts (B) 171,822,474 173,318,071

                        
-   

Total Revenue Receipts 
& Non Revenue 
Receipts C = (A)+(B) 171,822,474 173,318,071
Remittances to the 
Treasury (D) 19,879 148,975
Receipt of Net Income 
and Non – Income 
receipts E = (C)-(D) 171,802,595 173,169,096

Less: Expenditure

                 -   Recurrent Expenditure -
       

177,000,000 
Wages, Salaries & Other 
Employment Benefits 5 168,606,864 168,067,485  
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-   Other Goods & Services 6 - -

 ACA 
-2(ii)

2,800,000   
Subsidies, Grants and 
Transfers 7 1,066,601 1,253,170

- Interest Payments 8 - -
                        

-   
Other Recurrent 
Expenditure 9 - -

      
179,800,000 

Total Recurrent 
Expenditure (F) 169,673,465 169,320,655

Capital Expenditure

                        
-   

Rehabilitation & 
Improvement of Capital 
Assets 10 - -
Acquisition of Capital 
Assets 11 - -

                        
-   Capital Transfers 12 - -

 ACA-
2(ii)

         - 
Acquisition of Financial 
Assets 13 - -

                        
-   Capacity Building 14 - -

                        
-   

Other Capital 
Expenditure 15 - -

         - 
Total Capital 
Expenditure (G) - -

Deposit Payments 288,749 94,802 ACA -4

Advance Payments 10,933,565 6,492,633 ACA -5
Other Main Ledger 
Expenditure - -
Main Ledger 
Expenditure (H) 11,222,314 6,587,436
Total Expenditure
 I = (F+G+H) 180,895,779 175,908,091
Balance as at 31st 
December J = (E-I) (9,093,184) (2,738,995)
Balance As Per 
Imprest Reconciliation 
Statement (9,093,184) (2,738,995) ACA-7

                        
-   

Imprest Balance as a 31st 
December - - ACA-3

Rs.
 Amended 
Budgetary 
Allocations

2023 

       Note    Actual

        2023   2022
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3.1 Statement of Financial Performance (Measuring Units, Standards and 
Services Fund)

Measuring Units, Standards and Services Fund

For the year ended 31st December 2023

Statement of Financial Performance

2023 2022
Notes Rs. Rs.

 Income      

Sealing Income   6
           

252,664,030 
    

203,785,354

Calibration Income  
               
4,452,239 3,175,986

Calibration Income  
                      

3,333 
                    

21,333

Pattern Approval Income  
                  

917,560 
                  

267,253

Registration Income  
                  

466,027 
                  
1,697,933

Course fee Income  
                  

209,999 35,753

Examination Fees  
                  

110,869 -             

Interest Income  
           

120,876,722 
                            

33,664,953   

Other Income  
                  

349,840 
                    

24,846

Total Income
           

380,050,619 
      

242,673,411 
 

 Expenditure 

Overtime allowances 7
               
1,950,814 1,779,689

Travelling expenditure 8
             

14,105,225 10,324,590

Provisions 9
             

34,835,300 16,540,751

Maintenance expenditure 10
             

17,403,445 14,876,264

Contractual services 11
             

33,626,352 24,385,979

Contributory funds and subscription
             

15,857,957 5,408,323

Other recurrent expenditure
                            

-   -
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2023 2022
Notes Rs. Rs.

Property, Plant and Equipment 
Depreciation 12

             
85,182,516 89,024,846

Human Resources Development and 
Training

               
1,726,069 1,761,581

Property, Plant and Equipment 
maintenance 13

               
9,406,073 3,479,163

Implementation of Official Language 
Policy

                      
1,330 

Total expenditure 214,095,081 167,581,186
Surplus for the period 165,955,538 75,092,226

3.2	  Statement of Financial Position (Consolidated Fund ) (ACA - P))

As at 31st December 2023
Statement of Financial Position

        Actual

    Note   2023   2022

        Rs.   Rs.

Non Financial Assets    
Property, Plant & 
Equipment ACA-6 1,443,652,021   1,443,652,021

 
Financial Assets  

Advance Accounts ACA -5/5(A) 26,484,798   22,776,479
Cash & Cash 
Equivalents ACA -3 -   -

 
Total Assets 1,470,136,819   1,466,428,500

 
Net Assets / Equity  
Net Assets to the 
Treasury (21,288,994)   (24,988,833)
Property, Plant & 
Equipment Reserve 1,443,652,021   1,433,652,021
Rent and Work Advance 
Reserve ACA -5(B)  

 
Current Liabilities  
Deposits Accounts ACA -4 47,773,792   47,765,312
Imprest Balance ACA -3 -   -

Total Liabilities 1,470,136,819   1,466,428,500
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3.2 Statement of Financial Position (Measuring Units, Standards and Services 
Fund)

       
Measuring Units, Standards and Services Fund

As at 31st December 2023

Statement of Financial Position

                  2023               2022

  Notes Rs. Rs.

Assets  

Current Assets  

Cash and Cash Equivalents 1 55,005,700 423,890,342

Stationary Stock 1,092,887 1,104,633

Receivables 2 25,214,023 5,640,712

Deposit Account 200,000 200,000

Current Assets 82,512,610 430,835,688

Non – Current Assets

Property, Plant & Equipment 3               886,108,978 927,173,032

Fixed Deposits               874,011,949 382,358,226

Goods Issuing Document 
Deposits                 47,773,792 

47,765,312

Receivables                                -   -

Non – Current Assets 1,807,894,719 1,357,296,569

Total Assets 1,889,407,329 1,788,132,257

 

Liabilities

Current Liabilities

Accrued expenses                   4,493,637 6,321,132

1/3 of revenue payable to the 
Treasury

5
                17,374,367 

23,848,831

Value Added Tax                   2,172,633 13,828,285

Deposit Account                      249,743 91,393

Pre Received Income                          2,551 -

Current Liabilities 24,292,931 44,089,641
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                  2023               2022

  Notes Rs. Rs.

Non -Current Liabilities

- 

Total Liabilities 24,292,931 44,089,641

Total Net Assets 1,865,114,398 1,744,042,616

 

Equity and Reserves 

Reserves

Property, Plant & Equipment 
Reserve

22 36,700,007 36,700,007

  36,700,007 36,700,007

Equity  

Accumulated Fund 1,828,414,390 1,707,342,163

Total Equity and Reserves 1,865,114,398 1,744,042,616

The accounts information presented from format ACA 1 to ACA 7 depicted above from page 52 to 
57 and notes to financial statements from page 61 to 66 are sections included in the final account. 
The financial statements have been prepared in complying with the generally accepted accounting 
principles whereas most appropriate accounting policies are used as disclosed in the notes to the 
financial statements and hereby certify that figures in these financial statements, notes to accounts 
and other relevant accounts were reconciled with the treasury books of accounts and found to in 
agreement.
                                                                                                              



58

3.3 Statement of Cash Flows  (Measurement Units, Standards and Services Fund)

ACA-C
For the year ended 31st December 2023

Statement of Cash Flows
  Actual
  2023 2022
  Rs. Rs.
Cash Flows from Operating Activities  
Total Tax Receipts -                       -   
Fees, Surcharges, fines and licenses -                       -   
Profits -                       -   
Non Income Receipts 1,174,028 1,184,467
Income collected from other departments/ ministries - -
Imprest Receipts 

164,300,000 166,958,388
Advance recoveries 774,096 -
Income Receipts 288,749 -
Cash flow from Operating Activities (A)

166,536,873 168,142,855

Less : Cash Expenses
Personal Emoluments and Operational Expenses 

155,838,014 155,877,959
Subsidies and Transfers 

1,066,601 1,253,170
Expenses incurred behalf of other Expenditure Heads - 4,779,128
Imprest settled to the Treasury 19,879 148,975

Advances Paid 9,323,631 5,988,820

Deposits paid 288,749 94,802

Settlements to Department Fund -
Cash flow spent for operational activities (B) 166,536,873 168,142,855

Net cash flow from operating activities (C)=(A)-(B)
- -

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Interest                       -                         -   
Dividends                       -                         -   
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  Actual
  2023 2022
  Rs. Rs.
Provisions of disposing Equity and Sale of Physical Assets                       -                         -   
Recovery of Sub Loan                       -                         -   
Recovery of Advances                       -                         -   
Cash Flows from Investing Activities (C)                       -                         -   

   
Less : Cash Disbursements    
Construction or purchase of physical assets and other 
investment acquisitions - -
Total Cash flow spent for investment activities  (E)

- -

Net cash flow from investment activities
 (F)=(D)-(E) - -

Net Cash flow from Operational and Investment Activities 
(G)=( C) + (F)

         -          - 

Cash flow from financial activities     
Domestic Borrowings                   -                     -   
Foreign Borrowings                   -                     -   
Receipt of Grants                     -                       -   
Deposit Receipts                     -                       -   
Total Cash flow from Financial Activities (H)                    -                      -   

   
Less : Cash Disbursements    
Domestic Loan Repayments                     -                       -   
Foreign Loan Repayments                     -                       -   
Deposit Payments               -               - 
Total Cash flow spent for Financial Activities  (I)               -               - 

   
Cash flow from Financial Activities (J)=(H)-(I) - -
Net increase/ (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 
(L) =  (G) -(J)

                   -                      -   

Opening Cash and cash equivalents balance as at 01st of 
January

         -            -   

Closing Cash and Cash equivalents balance as at 31st of 
January

                      -                         -   
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3.3 Statement of Cash Flows  (Measurement Units, Standards and Services 
Fund)

Measurement Units, Standards and Services Fund
For the year ended 31st December 2023

Statement of Cash Flows

2023 2022

Notes Rs. Rs.

Operating Activities

Receipts

Income receipts 14 389,133,578 312,893,941

Other receipts 15 2,678,562 1,182,326

Value Added Tax 58,311,501 36,090,508

Advance receipts 16 985,063 728,844

 Payments 

Expenditure paid 17 (136,603,254) (69,274,104)

Value Added Tax (65,367,570) (29,904,439)

Advance paid 18 (4,170,580) (2,325,900)

Accrued expenses 19 (69,635) (5,856,346)

Deposits paid (279,750) (83,325)

Cancellation of Receipts (13,340)

Payment of 1/3 of revenue payable to the 
treasury (135,856,911) (108,028,644)

Cash flow from operating activities 109,056,495 135,422,861

Investment Activities

Ordinary Savings Account (270,000,000) -

 Interest received 20 240,439 7,973,363

 Acquisition of Assets 21 (86,376,144) (31,078,165)

 Enhancement of capital assets 22 - -

Human Resources Development 
expenditure  (1,805,433) (1,736,581)

  Lands - -

 Bank Guarantee - -

Cash flow from Investment Activities (357,941,138) (24,841,383)
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2023 2022

Notes Rs. Rs.

 Financial Activities 

Loan Recovery Receipts -

 Fixed Deposits - (50,000,000)

Special Deposits (120,000,000) (200,000)

Cash Flow from Financial Activities  (120,000,000) (50,200,000)

 Net Increase/ (Decrease) in Cash and 
Cash Equivalents (368,884,643) 60,381,478

Opening Cash and cash equivalents 
balance at the beginning of the period 423,890,343 363,508,865

Closing Cash and cash equivalents 
balance at the beginning of the period 55,005,700 423,890,343

3.4 Notes to Financial Statements (Consolidated Fund)
Reporting Basis

1)  Reporting Period

The reporting period for these financial statements is from 01st of January to 31st of December 
2023.

2)  Measurement basis

The financial statements are prepared on historical cost basis and some assets are presented 
at revalued value. Unless otherwise stated, the accounts are prepared on an improved cash 
basis.

The financial statements are presented in Sri Lanka Rupees to the nearest rupee.

3)  Recognition of Income 

Exchange and non-exchange income are recognized as income in the period in which the 
cash is received, regardless of the period in which they are due.
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4)    Recognition and Measurement of Property, Plant and Equipment

Assets are recognized as property, plant and equipment when there is certainty that future 
economic benefits related to the asset will flow to the entity and the asset can be measured 
reliably.

Property, plant and equipment are recognized at cost and revalued value is used where the 
cost model is not applicable.

5)  Reserves of property, plant and equipment

This reserve account is the corresponding account of property, plant and equipment.

6) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents on hand as at 31st of December, 2023 consist of local currency 
notes and coins.

* In case of transactions specific to a particular reporting entity, amendments may be made to 
the forms as required. Also, the disclosure required for those particular transactions may be 
included under “Reporting Basis”.

* Only the accounting policies relevant to its reporting entity should be disclosed under the 
reporting basis.

3.4 Notes to Financial Statements (Measuring Unit, Standards and Services 
Department)

Account Records for the year ended 31.12.2023

Notes No. 01 Cash & Cash Equivalents  
Cash Balance                  54,642,193 
Ordinary Savings Account                       363,507 

                 55,005,700 

Notes No. 02 Receivables 
Fuel Advances                       560,000 
Petty Cash Advances                         10,000 
Receivable Fixed Deposit Interest                  24,618,273 
Receivable Income                             -   
Advance Account – Verification Stamp Pins                             -   
Receivable Ticket Fees                         25,750 

                 25,214,023 
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Notes No. 04
Stamp revenue related to registration fees has been credited to the deposit account by the 
Treasury. Treasury hard copy confirming the same is attached.

Notes No. 05  1/3 of the Revenue Payable to the Treasury

1/3 of the Revenue Payable to the Treasury  
                                -   

Notes No. 06 Sealing Income
Sealing Income                     252,627,846 
Additional Receipts-(Seal placements)                              36,184

                    252,664,030

Notes No. 07 Allowances
Overtime allowances             1,950,814 

                        1,950,814

Notes No. 08 Travelling Expenses
Travelling Expenses - Local              11,380,937 
Travelling Expenses - Foreign                2,724,288 

             14,105,225 
Notes No. 9 Supplies
Stationary Stock and official requirements              22,148,616 
Fuel and Lubricant Oil              11,677,962 
Uniform                   121,302 
Other                    887,421 

             34,835,300 
Notes No. 10 Maintenance Expenses
Vehicles                7,652,028 
Machinery and Equipment                9,535,537 
Buildings                   215,880 

             17,403,445 
Notes No. 11 Contractual Services
Travelling Expenses                   887,760 
Postal and Communication                2,821,910 
Electricity & Water              16,904,209 
Lease Rent and Local Government Institution Tax                   423,295 
Other Contractual Services              12,589,178 

             33,626,352 
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Notes No. 12 Property, Plant & Equipment Depreciation 
Building Depreciation                  29,066,175 
Vehicle Depreciation                    3,704,148 
Machinery & Equipment Depreciation                  47,751,916 
Furniture & Office Equipment Depreciation                    4,660,278 

                                       
85,182,516 

Notes No. 13 Repair Expenses

Buildings and Constructions
                                    
175,430 

Machinery & Machinery Repair
                   

3,647,365 

Vehicle
                   

5,583,278 
                          9,406,073

Notes No. 14  Income Receipts  

Sealing Income
                  

378,964,019 

Calibration Income
                             

6,805,663 

Fuel             839,185

Pattern Approval Income
                      

1,376,340 

Registration Income 
                            

686,320 

Course fee Income
                      

314,999 

Examination Fees
                      

110,869 
Extra Receipts (Seal Placements)               36,184 

     389,133,578 

Notes No. 15 Other Receipts 

Deposit Receipts
                            

58,350 

Other Income
                       

549,840 

Fuel Expenditure Reimbursement
                   

1,264,557 

Travelling Expenditure Reimbursement
                      

468,699 
Interest Income

Surcharges 
                      

337,116 
         2,678,562 
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Fuel Advances
                          

475,076 

Real Time Advances 
                      

259,384 

Petty Cash Advances
                      

250,603 
            985,063 

Notes No. 17  Expenditure Payments
Overtime Allowances                           1,922,681 
Travelling Expenses - Local                         13,822,505 
Travelling Expenses - Foreign                              493,305 
Stationary Stock and Office Equipment                         21,486,372 
Fuel and Lubricant Oils                         13,359,153 
 Uniform                                94,238 
Other Supplies                              731,060 
Vehicles                           7,862,030 
Machinery and Machinery Repairs                         13,941,558 
Building Maintenance                              215,880 
Travelling Expenses                              894,572 
Postal and Communication                           3,167,678 
Electricity and water                         18,332,730 
Rates and Taxes                              450,108 
Other Contractual Services                         12,237,776 
Contributory Funds and Subscription                         11,880,760 
Implementing Official Language Policy                                  1,330 
Building Repairs                           5,220,274 
Machinery and Machinery Repairs                           3,823,935 
Vehicle Repairs                           5,624,868 
VAT                           1,019,466 

Repayment out of Income                                20,975 
                      136,603,254 

Fuel Advances                          1,995,240 
Real Time Advances                          1,595,340 
Petty Cash Advances                             580,000 

                         4,170,580 

Accrued Expenses 
Accumulated Expenses                               69,635 

         69,635 
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Notes No. 20  Fixed Deposit Interest
Savings Account Interest                             240,439 

                            240,439 

Notes No. 21  Acquisition of Assets
Buildings                             127,470 
Office Equipment                          5,558,451 
Machinery & Machinery Equipment                        80,690,224 
Vehicles

                       86,376,144 

Notes No. 22 Property Plant and Equipment Reserve 
Scientific equipment received as a donation to the laboratory under the United Nations Industrial 
Development Program (UNIDO) is accounted for as property, plant and equipment reserves.

3.5  Performance of Revenue Collection (Consolidated Fund)

Income Code Details of 
Income Code 

Income Estimation
	

Added Incomes

First Estimate    Final Estimate Quantity	
             

Final 
Income (Rs.)                   
As a % of the 
Estimate

-	 No -

3.6  Demonstration of Utilization of Allocated Provisions (Consolidated Fund)
								        Rs.  ,000

Type of Allocation
Allocated Provisions

Actual 
Expenditure

Utilized Allocation 
as a % of last given 

allocationsFirst 
Allocation

Final 
Allocation

Recurrent

Capital

179,800,000

-

179,800,000

-

169,673,464

-

                       94%
  

        -
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3.7 	 In terms of F.R. 208, Allocations presented to this Department/ District 
Secretariat/ Provincial Council as a representative of other Ministries/ 
Departments

                                         							                                               
Rs.  ,000

Serial 
No.

Ministry/ 
Department 

which 
received 

allocations

Objectives 
of the 

Allocation

Allocations Actual 
Expenditure

Utilized 
Allocation 
as a % of 
last given 
allocations

Initial 
Allocations

Final 
Allocations

-No-

3.8  Performance of Reporting Non Financial Assets (Consolidated Fund)

Asset Code Code Descripton Balance as 
per goods 

survey 
report as at 
31.12.2022

Financial 
Position 

Report as at 
31.12.2022

To be 
accounted 
for in the 

future

Reporting 
progress as 

%

9151 Buildings and Structures 777,534,198 777,534,198 - -

9152 Machinery/ Vehicle 305,642,823 305,642,823 - -

9153 Land 350,475,000 350,475,000 - -

9154 Intangible Assets        - - - -

9155 Biological Assets  - - - -

9160 Work In Progress   10,000,000 10,000,000 - -

9180 Leased Assets    - - - -
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3.9  Auditor’s Report
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4
Performance Indicators

4.1 Performance indicators of the Institute (Based on the Action Plan)

Specific Indicators Actual Output as a (%) of expected output

100%-90% 75%-89% 50%-74%

Number of units verified - - 71.7%

Verification income - 85% -

Number of units of 
Calibrated 116% - -

Calibration income           171% - -

Training Program Income 112% - -

Pattern approval income - 85% -

Pattern approval income 308% - -

No. of Registrations of 
personal entrepreneurs - - 70.3%

Registration Income of  
personal entrepreneurs - 80%

No. of Pre packed goods 
checked - - 28.5%

No. of Raids 180% - -

No. of Awareness Programs 260% - -

Table 22
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5 
Sustainable Development Goals (SDG) 

5.1 The Identified respective Sustainable Developments Goals

Goal / 
Objective

Goals Performance 
Indicators

Progress of the Achievement to 
date 

0%
-49%

50%-
74%

75%-100%

Goal 01   

Eradication of 
Poverty

•	 Making trade 
fairer, even in the 
smallest markets, 
will ensure 
that all farmers 
receive the correct 
payment for their 
produce.

•	 Ensuring that 
governments are 
able to collect 
accurate taxes 
on exports, not 
just the price 
paid by accurate 
measurements

•	 The control of 
prepacked goods 
will also help to 
reduce fraud in 
this increasingly 
important area 
which often 
concerns staple 
foodstuffs.

 

Number 
of targeted 
verified units 
during the 
year 

 

No. of 
prepackaged 
items that are 
expected to 
be monitored 
during the 
year

28.5%

71.7%
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Goal / 
Objective

Goals Performance 
Indicators

Progress of the Achievement to 
date 

0%
-49%

50%-
74%

75%-100%

Goal 03 

Good Health 
and well being 

•	 Improvements in                         
the quality of 
healthcare,

•	 Reduction in 
“false positive” 
and “false 
negative: test 
results,

•	 Reduction in costs 
for governments 
and healthcare 
insurers and an 
improvement in 
the efficiency of 
health care.

•	 Reduction in 
the numbers of 
repeat tests due to 
improvements in 
quality 

•	 Reducing the 
cost of quality 
diagnostics.

The number 
of units 
expected 
to verify or 
calibrate the 
equipment 
related to the 
health sector 
during the 
year  

- - Calibration of 
thermometers, 
pressure 
gauges 
and mass 
measuring 
instruments 
related to the 
medical field 
has been done 
based on the 
requirement.

Goal  07

Affordable 
and clean 
Energy

•	 Metrology play 
critical role to 
control the CO2 
and other negative 
emissions to the 
environment

No. of 
Smoke 
meters 
verified  
during the 
year 

119%
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Goal / 
Objective

Goals Performance 
Indicators

Progress of the Achievement to 
date 

0%
-49%

50%-
74%

75%-100%

Goal 09

Industry 
Innovation and 
Infrastructure

•	 Meeting 
regulatory 
requirements, 
document 
standards and 
specifications that 
ensure quality in 
the manufacture 
of parts and 
finished goods.

•	 Meeting 
Consumer and 
industrial quality 
expectations 
including product 
value/price and 
reliability. 

•	 Typically through 
the use of the 
CIPM MRA and 
for commercial 
laboratories, 
accreditation, 
leading to 
measurement and 
test results that 
are internationally 
recognized and 
accepted, thus 
avoiding trade 
barriers through 
repeat tests.

No. of 
targeted 
calibrations     
during the 
year

Measures 
taken to 
fulfill the 
targeted 
CIMP MRA 
requirements 
during the 
year.

116%

We have been 
able to accredit 
the Volumetric 
Laboratory as 
per ISO/IEC 
17025:2017 
meeting 
one of the 
requirements 
of CIPM-
MRA.

Table 23
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 5.2 Achievements and Challenges in Achieving Sustainable Development Goals

Achievements

The CIPM MRA is a platform that provides the organizational and technical framework for 
National Metrology Institutes worldwide to recognize each other’s measurement standards and 
calibration certificates. The Department of Measurement, Standards and Services is the National 
Measurement Laboratory representing the CIPM MRA.  We have been able to avoid trade barriers 
by meeting one of the requirements of CIPM-MRA in accordance with ISO/IEC 17025:2017, 
by establishing and maintaining the Quality Management System (QMS) as well as preparing 
the technical manual. Apart from this, the target number of revisions and the number of verified 
vehicle emission testing (smoke meters and gas analyzers) during the year have exceeded the 
expected level and contributed to increase the performance.

Challenges
   

The posts of technical officers in the laboratory are vacant due to local/foreign leave under Public 
Administration Circulars 14/2022, 14/2022(I) and 14/2022(II) which has directly affected the 
performance of the laboratory. As a remedy, we have decided to suspend local/foreign holidays as 
per departmental circulars. A huge challenge we faced was that due to a late error in the Ministry 
of Public Administration, the recruitment for the scientific service was not done as scheduled. 
Also, we are facing major crises due to the lack of necessary approval to install the ultra-precise 
air conditioning system at the National Measurement Laboratory, which directly affects the 
accreditation and calibration process at the optimal level.
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6
		  Human Resource Profile
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6.2  How the deficit/surplus of human resources has affected the performance of      
the organization  

There are huge human resource vacancies for the posts of Assistant Director of Measurement Units, 
Standards and Services (Sri Lanka Scientific Service) and Metrology Testing Officer (Departmental), 
Lab Assistant and Lab Assistant for the service of National Measurement Laboratory. About 50% 
of the total number of vacancies currently available in these sanctioned posts. Vacancy percentage 
of Lab Assistant posts is 100%. For the future development and service promotion of the Metrology 
Research Laboratory and for the efficient performance of metrology services (calibration, 
verification, model approval), the recruitment of officers for the above-mentioned vacant positions 
should be done promptly. Installation of measurement standards for new measurement parameters 
and provision of new metrological services are to be started but we are facing the problem of not 
being able to do them due to the lack of officers.

6.3 Human Resources Development  

By providing the relevant knowledge to the officers while carrying out their duties in the institution, 
they will be able to perform their duties more efficiently and accurately than usual, thereby increasing 
the performance of the department.

It is essential to obtain and update the technical knowledge related to each field in order to carry out 
the work of the research laboratory. Accordingly, by providing local/foreign technical training, the 
performance of the research laboratory will be increased and by providing training to each officer 
according to the assigned duties, it will help to increase the performance of the entire department by 
being able to perform their duties correctly, systematically and with
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7 
Compliance Report
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No.   Applicable Requirement Compliance 
Status 

(Complied/Not 
Complied)

Brief explanation 
for Non 

Compliance

Corrective actions 
proposed to avoid 
non-compliance in 
future

1 The following Financial 
statements/accounts have 
been submitted on due date

  

1.1 Annual financial statements Complied  

1.2 Advance to public officers 
account

Complied  

1.3 Trading and Manufacturing 
Advance Accounts 
(Commercial Advance 
Accounts)

Not Complied

Does not relevant to 
this Department.

 

1.4 Special Advance Accounts Not Complied  

1.5 Others Measurement units ,  
Standards & Services Fund

Not Complied  

1.6 Maintenance of books and 
documents (F.R.445)

Complied  

2 Fixed assets register has 
been maintained and 
updated in terms of Public 
Administration Circular  
267/2018

  

2.1 Personal emoluments 
register/ Personal 
emoluments cards has been 
maintained and updated.

Complied  
 

 

2.2 Register of Audit queries has 
been maintained and update

Complied  

2.3 Register of Internal Audit 
reports has been maintained 
and updated.

Complied

2.4 All the monthly account 
summaries (CIGAS) are 
prepared and submitted to 
the Treasury on due date.

Complied
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No.   Applicable Requirement Compliance 
Status 

(Complied/Not 
Complied)

Brief explanation 
for Non 

Compliance

Corrective actions 
proposed to avoid 
non-compliance in 
future

2.5 Special Advance Accounts Complied

2.6 Register for cheques and 
money orders has been 
maintained and updated.

Complied

2.7 Inventory register has been 
maintained and updated.

Complied

2.8 Stocks Register has been 
maintained and updated.

Complied

2.9 Register of Losses has been 
maintained and updated.

Complied

2.10 Commitment Register 
has been maintained and 
updated.

Not Complied Does not maintain  
document due to 
lack of liabilities.

2.11 Register of Counterfoil 
Books (GA – N20) has been 
maintained and updated.

Complied

3 Delegation of functions for financial control (FR 135)

3.1 The financial authority has 
been delegated within the 
institute.

Complied

3.2 The delegation of financial 
authority has been 
communicated within the 
institute.

Complied

3.3 The authority has been 
delegated in such manner so 
as to pass each transaction 
through two or more officers.

Complied

3.4 The controls has been 
adhered to by the 
Accountants in terms of State 
Account Circular 171/2004 
dated 11.05.2014 in using 
the Government Payroll 
Software Package.

Complied
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No.   Applicable Requirement Compliance 
Status 

(Complied/Not 
Complied)

Brief explanation 
for Non 

Compliance

Corrective actions 
proposed to avoid 
non-compliance in 
future

4 Preparation of Annual Plans

4.1 The annual action plan has 
been prepared.

Complied

4.2 The annual procurement 
plan has been prepared.

Complied

4.3 The annual Internal Audit 
plan has been prepared.

Complied

4.4 The annual estimate has 
been prepared and submitted 
to the National Budget 
Department on due date.

Complied

4.5 The annual cash flow 
has been submitted to 
the Treasury Operations 
Department on time

Complied

4.6 The annual estimate has 
been prepared and submitted 
to the National Budget 
Department on due date.

Complied

4.7 The annual cash flow 
has been submitted to 
the Treasury Operations 
Department on time

Complied

5 Audit queries

5.1 All the audit queries has been 
replied within the specified 
time by the Auditor General

Complied

6 Internal Audit

6.1 The internal audit plan 
has been prepared at the 
beginning of the year after 
consulting the Auditor 
General in terms of Financial 
Regulation 134(2)) DMA/1-
2020  

Complied
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No.   Applicable Requirement Compliance 
Status 

(Complied/Not 
Complied)

Brief explanation 
for Non 

Compliance

Corrective actions 
proposed to avoid 
non-compliance in 
future

6.2 All the internal audit reports 
has been replied within one 
month.

Not Complied Directors have 
taken necessary 
actions by giving 
instructions to 
relevant section 
heads. 

6.3 Copies of all the internal audit 
reports has been submitted 
to the Management Audit 
Department in terms of Sub-
section 40(4) of the National 
Audit Act No. 19 of 2018

Complied

6.4 All the copies of internal 
audit reports have been 
submitted to the Auditor 
General in terms of Financial 
Regulation 134(3)

Complied

7 Audit and Management Committee

7.1 Minimum 04 meetings of 
the Audit and Management 
Committee has been held 
during the year as per the 
DMA Circular 1-2020

Not Complied A request was 
made to appoint an 
internal auditor for 
this department.

Necessary action has 
been taken. In the 
year 2024, efforts are 
being made to correct 
it.

8 Asset Management

8.1 The information about 
purchases of assets and 
disposals was submitted to 
the Comptroller General’s 
Office in terms of Paragraph 
07 of the Asset Management 
Circular No. 01/2017

Complied

8.2 In terms of Paragraph 13 
of the aforesaid circular,  
implementation of provisions 
in that circular.

Complied
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No.   Applicable Requirement Compliance 
Status 

(Complied/Not 
Complied)

Brief explanation 
for Non 

Compliance

Corrective actions 
proposed to avoid 
non-compliance in 
future

8.3 The boards of survey was 
conducted and the relevant 
reports were submitted to the 
Auditor General on due date 
in terms of Public Finance 
Circular No. 05/2016 

Complied

8.4 The excesses and deficits 
that were disclosed through 
the board of survey and other 
relating recommendations, 
actions were carried out 
during the period specified 
in the circular

Complied

8.5 The disposal of condemn 
articles had been carried out 
in terms of FR 772

Complied

9 Vehicle Management

9.1 The daily running charts 
and monthly summaries of 
the pool vehicles had been 
prepared and submitted to 
the Auditor General on due 
date

Complied

9.2 The condemned vehicles had 
been disposed of within a 
period of less than 6 months 
after condemning

Complied

9.3 The vehicle log books had 
been maintained and updated

Complied

9.4 The action has been taken in 
terms of F.R. 103, 104, 109 
and 110 with regard to every 
vehicle accident

Complied 

9.5 The fuel consumption of 
vehicles has been re-tested 
in terms of the provisions of 
Paragraph 3.1 of the Public 
Administration Circular No. 
30/2016 of 29.12.2016

Complied
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No.   Applicable Requirement Compliance 
Status 

(Complied/Not 
Complied)

Brief explanation 
for Non 

Compliance

Corrective actions 
proposed to avoid 
non-compliance in 
future

9.6 The absolute ownership of 
the leased vehicle log books 
has been transferred after the 
lease term

Not Complied No purchases of 
vehicles have been 
made under the lease 
system.

10 Management of Bank Accounts

10.1 The bank reconciliation 
statements had been 
prepared, got certified and 
made ready for audit by the 
due date  

Complied  

10.2 The dormant accounts that 
had existed in the year under 
review or since previous 
years settled

Complied

10.3 In terms of Financial 
Regulations regarding 
balances that had been 
disclosed through bank 
reconciliation statements 
and for which adjustments 
had to be made, and had 
those balances been settled 
within one month

Complied

11 Utilization of Provisions

11.1 The provisions allocated 
had been spent without 
exceeding the limit.

Complied  

11.2 The liabilities not exceeding 
the provisions that remained 
at the end of the year as per 
the FR 94(1)

Complied  

12 Advances to Public Officers Account

12.1 The limits had been complied 
with 

Complied

12.2 A time analysis had been 
carried out on the loans in 
arrears

Complied
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No.   Applicable Requirement Compliance 
Status 

(Complied/Not 
Complied)

Brief explanation 
for Non 

Compliance

Corrective actions 
proposed to avoid 
non-compliance in 
future

12.3 The loan balances in arrears 
for over one year had been 
settled.

Not Complied Failure to recover 
the loan balances 
of two officers who 
left the service.

The Attorney 
General has been 
informed. Taking 
further action to 
recover the debt 
balances of the 
relevant officers.

13 General Deposit Account

13.1 The action had been taken 
as per F.R.571 in relation to 
disposal of lapsed deposits

Not Complied No deposit account 
balance.

13.2 The control register for 
general deposits had been 
updated and maintained.

Not Complied No deposit account 
balance

14 Imprest Account

14.1 The balance in the cash book 
at the end of the year under 
review remitted to TOD  

Complied

14.2 The ad-hoc sub imprests 
issued as per F.R. 371 settled 
within one month from the 
completion of the task

Complied

14.3 The ad-hoc sub imprests had 
not been issued exceeding 
the limit approved as per 
F.R. 371

Complied

14.4 The balance of the imprest 
account had been reconciled 
with the Treasury books 
monthly

Complied

15 Revenue Account

15.1 The refunds from the revenue 
had been made in terms of 
the regulations

Not Complied The expenditure head 
of the department 
is not a revenue 
expenditure head.
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No.   Applicable Requirement Compliance 
Status 

(Complied/Not 
Complied)

Brief explanation 
for Non 

Compliance

Corrective actions 
proposed to avoid 
non-compliance in 
future

15.2 The revenue collection had 
been directly credited to the 
revenue account without 
credited to the deposit 
account

Not Complied
The expenditure head 
of the department 
is not a revenue 
expenditure head.

15.3 Returns of arrears of revenue 
forward to the Auditor 
General in terms of FR 176

Not Complied The expenditure head 
of the department 
is not a revenue 
expenditure head.

16 Human Resource Management

16.1 The staff had been paid 
within the approved cadre

Complied

16.2 All members of the staff 
have been issued a duty list 
in writing

Complied

16.3 All reports have been 
submitted to MSD in terms 
of their circular no.04/2017 
dated 20.09.2017

Complied

17 Provision of information to the public

17.1 An information officer has 
been appointed and a proper 
register of information is 
maintained and updated 
in terms of Right To 
Information Act and 
Regulation

Complied

17.2 Information about the 
institution to the public have 
been provided by Website 
or alternative measures and 
has it been facilitated to 
appreciate / allegation to 
public against the public 
authority by this website or 
alternative measures

Complied
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No.   Applicable Requirement Compliance 
Status 

(Complied/Not 
Complied)

Brief explanation 
for Non 

Compliance

Corrective actions 
proposed to avoid 
non-compliance in 
future

17.3 Bi- Annual and Annual 
reports have been submitted 
as per section 08 and 10 of 
the RTI Act

Complied

18 Implementing citizens charter

18.1 A citizens charter/ Citizens 
client’s charter has been 
formulated and implemented 
by the Institution in terms of 
the circular number 05/2008 
and 05/2018(1) of Ministry 
of Public Administration and 
Management

Complied  

18.2 According to 2.3 of the said 
Circular, institutions have 
prepared a system to monitor 
and evaluate the formulation 
and implementation of the 
citizen/client charter.

Complied

19 Preparation of the Human Resource Plan

19.1 A human resource plan has 
been prepared in terms of 
the format in Annexure 02 
of Public Administration 
Circular No.02/2018 dated 
24.01.2018

Complied

  19.2 A minimum training 
opportunity of not less than 
12 hours per year for each 
member of the staff has been 
ensured in the aforesaid 
Human Resource Plan

Complied

19.3 Annual performance 
agreements have been signed 
for the entire staff based on 
the format in Annexure 01 of 
the aforesaid Circular.

Not Complied A performance 
agreement is not 
i m p l e m e n t e d 
currently and 
methodologies have 
been prepared for 
assessment.

Actions are being 
taken regarding that.
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No.   Applicable Requirement Compliance 
Status 

(Complied/Not 
Complied)

Brief explanation 
for Non 

Compliance

Corrective actions 
proposed to avoid 
non-compliance in 
future

19.4 A senior officer was 
appointed and assigned 
the responsibility of 
preparing the human 
resource development plan, 
organizing capacity building 
programs and conducting 
skill development programs 
as per paragraph No.6.5 of 
the aforesaid Circular

Complied

20 Responses Audit Paras

20.1 The shortcomings pointed 
out in the audit paragraphs 
issued by the Auditor 
General for the previous 
years have been rectified

Compiled

Table 27


